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Transtech Optelecom Science Holdings Limited (the “Company”) (stock code: 9963) (together with its subsidiaries, 
collectively referred to as the “Group”). The Company owns two major operating subsidiaries, namely Transtech Optical 
Communication Company Limited (“Transtech”) and Futong Group Communication Technology (Thailand) Co., Ltd. 
(“Futong Thailand”) in Hong Kong and Thailand respectively. The Group’s parent group (namely, Futong Group Co., Ltd. 
(“Futong China”), together with its subsidiaries, “Futong China Group” or “Parent Group”) has business operations in the 
China and its customers include major China telecommunications operators.

Transtech is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of optical fibres, and its production facilities are located 
in Hong Kong. Futong Thailand is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of optical fibre cables, optical cable 
cores and other related products, and its production facilities are located in Thailand.

In addition to the manufacturing and sales of optical fibre cables with various standard specifications that are widely 
used in the telecommunications industry, Futong Thailand also designs and manufactures specialty optical fibre cables 
pursuant to requests from our customers, including rodent resistant optical fibre cable, flame-retardant optical fibre 
cable and non-metallic optical fibre cable. Transtech manufactures optical fibres for Futong Thailand’s production 
of optical fibre cables, as well as for sale to third parties. Furthermore, the Group sells optical cable cores and other 
related products, including power cable and other auxiliary products.

The Group is highly regarded in the optical fibre and optical fibre cable products markets. The Group was awarded ISO 
9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015 and ISO 45001:2018 certificates in relation to manufacturing of optical fibre and optical fibre 
cable products. The Group believes that, by leveraging the Group’s strengths on product quality and research ability, 
the Group has successfully enhanced the Group’s product recognition in the market.

The Shares have been listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange by way of the Global Offering since 20 July 2017 (the 
“Listing Date”) and then were successfully listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“Stock Exchange”) on 5 November 2020 (the “Transfer Date”). As of 31 December 2024, the Company had 260,000,000 
issued shares.
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Due to the continuous weakened market demand, the Group still had difficulty in its business in 2024. The Group’s 
operating results for the year ended 31 December 2024 were listed as follows:

•	 Total revenue decreased by approximately 15.0% to approximately HK$148.0 million (2023: approximately 
HK$174.2 million)

•	 Gross profit decreased by approximately 101.7% to gross loss approximately HK$0.3 million (2023: gross profit 
approximately HK$17.5 million)

•	 Gross profit margin decreased by approximately 10.2% to gross loss margin approximately 0.2% (2023: gross profit 
margin approximately 10.0%)

•	 Total comprehensive expense for the year attributable to owners of the Company increased by approximately 
52.7% to approximately HK$95.6 million (2023: approximately HK$62.6 million)

•	 The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend (2023: Nil)
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RESULT

For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Revenue 148,017 174,208 232,753 155,945 262,623
Cost of sales (148,292) (156,743) (202,893) (136,451) (220,016)
Gross (loss)/profit (275) 17,465 29,860 19,494 42,607
(Loss)/profit for the year (94,846) (64,222) (70,820) (87,321) 28,231      

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Non-current assets 244,671 265,362 369,397 380,642 295,927
Current assets 150,360 251,744 240,838 338,550 473,614
Non-current liabilities 833 556 753 1,398 5,330
Current liabilities 39,439 66,188 96,565 122,429 47,266
Net current assets 110,921 185,556 144,273 216,121 426,348
Net assets 354,759 450,362 512,917 595,365 716,945      

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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*  The seventh annual general meeting after Listing was held on 30 May 2024

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Transtech Optelecom Science Holdings Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), I am pleased to present the audited consolidated results of 
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW
In 2024, the sales of optical fiber encountered difficulty in the highly competitive market throughout the year. There 
was no external sales of optical fiber in FY2024. Meanwhile, the selling price and volume of optical fiber cable reduced 
by 7.0% and 3.2% respectively. Under the adverse circumstance, Transtech Optical Communication Company Limited 
(“Transtech”) has closed its production lines in several months during the year ended 31 December 2024 to save 
cost; however, Transtech has resumed its production by the end of the year and our management believes that the 
production will be proceeded in a continuous way in the year 2025.



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

8 Transtech Optelecom Science Holdings Limited

2024 also witnessed the commercialisation of 5G network in China, and it was also a year for 5G to further empower 
a large number of industries. At present, China has built the world’s largest and technologically advanced 5G network 
infrastructure, covering major cities and villages across the country. The new generation of information technology 
represented by 5G is accelerating its integration into various fields and segments of the economy and society, and is 
being further promoted in medical care, industry, power and other industries.

In line with the development trend of the 5G industry, the Group grasps the trend of 5G technology development in the 
ASEAN countries and actively develops it to meet the market demand and maintain its competitive edge. Adhering to its 
philosophy of creating value for customers, the Group continuously optimised the industrial chain structure and built a 
full value chain business development system to achieve steady business growth.

The subsidiary company in Thailand continued the machine installation in the new factory building for business 
expansion but its commencement date of production is estimated to be postponed to December 2026.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded:

•	 revenue decreased by approximately 15.0% to approximately HK$148.0 million (2023: approximately HK$174.2 
million);

•	 gross profit decreased by approximately 101.7% to gross loss approximately HK$0.3 million (2023: gross profit 
approximately HK$17.5 million);

•	 total comprehensive expense for the year attributable to owners of the Company increased by approximately 
52.7% to approximately HK$95.6 million (2023: approximately HK$62.6 million); and

•	 basic loss per share to be approximately HK$0.36 (2023: loss approximately HK$0.25).

Performance Analysis
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group reported its revenue of approximately HK$148.0 million (2023: 
approximately HK$174.2 million), representing a decrease of approximately 15.0% as compared to that of the 
same period in 2023. The gross profit margin of the Group decreased by approximately 10.2% to gross loss margin 
approximately 0.2% for the year ended 31 December 2024 as compared to a gross profit margin of approximately 10.0% 
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded a loss attributable to the owners of the Company of 
approximately HK$94.8 million (2023: loss approximately HK$64.2 million) representing increase of loss approximately 
47.7%.

(i)	 Futong Group Communication Technology (Thailand) Co., Ltd. (“Futong Thailand”)
The economies in the ASEAN countries slowly recovered in 2024. As a result of the increase in impairment losses 
on deposits both for purchase of raw materials and acquisition of property, plant and equipment, less reversal of 
impairment losses on trade and other receivable and the decrease of the sales by approximately 14.4%, Futong 
Thailand had an increase of net loss by approximately 172.7% as compared to that of the same period in 2023.
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(ii)	 Transtech
As a result of the weak demand and the low price of in product, Transtech has reported its revenue and net loss 
in amount of approximately HK$14.4 million and HK$44.2 million respectively for the year ended 31 December 
2024 (2023: revenue approximately HK$22.1 million and net loss approximately HK$41.4 million respectively), 
representing decrease of revenue approximately 34.8% and increase of loss approximately 6.8%. 100.0% of 
Transtech’s products were sold internally to Futong Thailand for the year ended 31 December 2024. The main 
reasons for the worse performance are mainly attributable to the problem of overproduction and the general 
downtrend of optical fibre and optical fibre cable capital expenditure in China.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Transtech has halted production in several months because of the significant 
decline in demand and Transtech sold all of its products to Futong Thailand. The directors will consider to modify the 
group operation mode to a vertical structure that Transtech sells most of its products to Futong Thailand to stabilize the 
supply of its raw materials.

OUTLOOK
In view of the future, the Group believes the demand of optical fibre cable will increase along with the development of 
communication infrastructure construction. In addition to the expansion of the factory in Futong Thailand to increase 
the production capacity of optical fibre, Transtech also plans to install several production lines to manufacture optical 
fibre cable in its existing factory in Hong Kong. The Group aims to enhance the production power of the two subsidiaries 
in Hong Kong and Thailand.

Transtech determined to add a new Drop Cable project in early 2025, which is expected to be completed in May 2025 
for installation and trial production. Upon formal commencement of production, the annual production capacity will 
reach 200,000 fkm and the annual output value will reach HK$40 million. The project focuses on access to the fiber 
optic market in Hong Kong and ASEAN countries, which will further broaden the Group's customer base and enhance 
its market competitiveness.

Drop Cable, also known as Indoors Wiring Optical Cable or Invisible Cable, has a wide range of application uses in the 
field of communications, and is able to flexibly meet the communication needs of various complex environments. It is 
not only suitable for fiber-to-the-home (FTTH), providing high-speed and stable fiber-optic network services for home 
users. In addition, it is indispensable for communication connection between buildings, Premises Distribution System 
inside buildings, and Temporary Distribution in engineering emergencies. Its characteristic of lightness, small outer 
diameter, and excellent flexibility and bendability make it easy to lay in small spaces, providing a stable and reliable fiber 
optic connection solution for modern communication networks.

Drop Cable also plays an important role in data centers and cloud computing. Data centers usually need to handle large 
amounts of data transmission, Drop Cable is well suited to the needs with its characteristic of high bandwidth and low 
latency. In the application of cloud computing, Drop Cable can effectively support the rapid transmission of large-scale 
data to ensure that users get a smooth experience when using such services.
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Drop Cable also has a wide range of applications in the field of industrial automation. In modern industrial production, 
machine and equipment need to transmit data through high-speed communication networks, the feature of anti-
interference ability and high stability of Drop Cable make it an ideal choice under the industrial environments. Drop 
Cable can provide reliable communication support in the field of manufacturing, energy management and intelligent 
transportation systems.

In the field of telecommunication infrastructure, Thailand and other major ASEAN countries have gradually completed 
the laying of optical fiber backbone network. Then, they will pay more attention and investment to the application 
of FTTH of which Drop Cable is mostly used because of its characteristic of flexible laying, small size, easiness in 
construction and maintenance, etc., in the optical fiber network. In the environment of huge market demand, Drop 
Cable plays the role of “capillary” for optical fiber network and promotes the development of f optical fiber industry.

In order to cope with the challenges, the Group will continue with its efforts to promote the development of the digital 
economy and the upgrading of both optical communications market and technology in 2025. The Group will also 
endeavor to maintain its leading position in the highly competitive market with a view to generating sustainable rewards 
for our shareholders.

APPRECIATION
Lastly, on behalf of the Board, I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to our shareholders for their support to 
the Group. The management team and staff of the Group will be dedicated to fostering future business growth and 
optimising return to our shareholders.

He Xingfu
Chairman
Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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A.	 FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
The Group’s total revenue decreased from approximately HK$174.2 million in the year ended 31 December 2023 
to approximately HK$148.0 million in the year ended 31 December 2024. The reasons for the decrease are mainly 
due to the net effect of (i) the sales of optical fibre cables to one customer in Thailand decreased approximately 
HK$18.3 million from approximately HK$53.5 million to approximately HK$35.2 million and (ii) the aggregate sales 
of optical fibre cable to oversea customers increased HK$4.2 million from approximately HK$53.8 million to 
HK$58.0 million.

Cost of Sales
The key components of the Group’s cost of sales comprised principally the (i) raw materials used for production 
of optical fibres, optical fibre cables, optical cable cores and other related products, (ii) direct and indirect labour 
costs, (iii) manufacturing overheads such as depreciation for plant and equipment, rent, consumables, utilities, 
and other expenses related to the manufacturing our products and (iv) change in inventories of finished goods 
and work in progress.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the cost of sales of the Group decreased by approximately 5.4% to 
approximately HK$148.3 million as compared with the corresponding period in FY2023. Such decrease was mainly 
attributable to the net effect of the decrease of purchased quantity along with decreased sales volume, the 
decrease of optical fibre unit cost and increase of provision for inventories during the reporting period.

Gross profit/loss and margin
The gross profit of the Group decreased from approximately HK$17.5 million for the year ended 31 December 
2023 to gross loss approximately HK$0.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The gross profit margin decreased from approximately 10.0% for the year ended 31 December 2023 to gross loss 
margin approximately 0.2% for the year ended 31 December 2024. This is mainly attributable to the recognition 
of fixed overhead and staff costs in cost of sales resulting from the temporary suspension of the Group’s 
manufacturing and trading of optical fibres during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Impairment losses on financial assets
Impairment losses on financial assets represented the net effect of reversal of impairment losses on trade 
receivable and impairment losses on deposits for purchase of raw materials and other receivables, which 
increased by approximately HK$29.4 million, or approximately 165.2% from approximately HK$17.8 million for the 
year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$47.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and prepayments
As at 31 December 2024, the net carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and prepayments, 
attributed to the reporting segment of optical fibres before recognition of impairment losses for the year, were 
approximately HK$226.0 million and HK$16.5 million respectively. Due to the operating loss and temporary 
production suspension of the Group’s manufacturing and trading of optical fibres, management concluded there 
were indications of impairment and performed an impairment assessment on these assets as at 31 December 
2024 to determine the recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which the assets belong based 
on value in use of the CGU. 

The recoverable amount of the relevant assets was determined on the basis of their value in use by using 
discounted cash flow method. Impairment losses on prepayments amounting to approximately HK$13.1 million 
was recognised during the year to reduce the carrying amount of the CGU to its recoverable amount.
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Other income, other gains and losses, net
The Group recognised foreign exchange losses of approximately HK$7.6 million for the year ended 31 December 
2024 as compared with foreign exchange losses of approximately HK$12.8 million for the year ended 31 December 
2023, mainly due to the fluctuation of exchange rates among Renminbi (“RMB”), Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$”), Thai 
Baht (“THB”), and United States Dollar (“US$”) during the year.

Selling and distribution expenses
Selling and distribution expenses comprised staff cost, transportation expense, export cost and other selling and 
distribution expenses.

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses decreased from approximately HK$3.7 million for the year ended 31 
December 2023 to approximately HK$3.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, representing a decrease 
of approximately 5.4%.

The decrease in the selling and distribution expenses for the year ended 31 December 2024 was mainly due to the 
decrease in sales commission expenses due to decrease in sales.

Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses primarily consist of (i) staff cost, (ii) office expense, which comprises the expense for 
office supplies, electricity and water expense, rental expense, security fee and repair and maintenance expense, 
(iii) depreciation, (iv) transportation expense, which comprises travelling expense and motor vehicle expense, (v) 
professional fee, which comprises audit fee and legal and professional expense, and (vi) other expense, which 
comprises bank charge and miscellaneous expense.

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased from approximately HK$19.7 million for the year ended 31 
December 2023 to approximately HK$18.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, representing a decrease 
of approximately 6.6%. The decrease in the administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2024 was 
mainly attributable to the effects of the decrease in depreciation expenses and other expenses.
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Finance costs
Finance costs represent the interest expense on bank borrowings. The finance costs of the Group decreased from 
approximately HK$1.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$1.6 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 mainly attributable to the decrease in bank borrowings.

Taxation
The Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and 
at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

Futong Thailand has been granted preferential tax treatments by the Board of Investment in Thailand relating 
to manufacturing of cables by virtue of the provisions of the Industrial Investment Promotion Act B.E.2520 of 
Thailand. The preferential tax treatments granted include: (i) the full exemption from payment of corporate income 
tax on net profit of the promoted business of the manufacturing of cables for a period of eight years ended 28 
February 2021 (“Exemption Period”). No Corporate Income tax has been provided within the Exemption Period; 
and (ii) the 50% exemption from payment of corporate income tax during the period from 1 March 2021 to 28 
February 2025 (“50% Exemption Period”), 50% Corporate Income Tax has been provided by the direct application 
of Corporate Income Tax rate to the profit before tax of management account during the “50% Exemption Period”.

Income tax credit shifted from approximately HK$1.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to income tax 
expenses approximately HK$3.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. Such changes was mainly caused 
by the reversal of deferred tax asset on tax losses previously recognised.

Loss for the year
Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately 
HK$94.8 million (2023: loss approximately HK$64.2 million).

The increase of loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 was mainly 
attributable to the net effect of the following factors: (a) less sales revenue made as a result of the weak economic 
situation due to the slow recovery from COVID-19 pandemic; (b) less foreign exchange loss resulting from the 
fluctuation of exchange rates among RMB, THB, US$ and HK$; (c) increase of impairment losses on (i) deposits for 
acquisition of property, plant and equipment; (ii) deposits for purchase of raw materials; and (iii) prepayments; (d) 
reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables and other receivables; and (e) reversal of deferred tax asset on 
tax losses previously recognised.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure
Cash position
The Group’s principal sources of funds are used to finance working capital, and the growth and expansion of the 
Group’s operations and sales network. The Group’s principal sources of funds are cash generated from operations 
and bank borrowings. The Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$17.8 million as at 31 
December 2024 (2023: approximately HK$14.5 million).

Bank borrowings
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total bank borrowings of approximately HK$25.3 million (2023: 
approximately HK$37.6 million). Details of the bank borrowings are set out in Note 23 to the consolidated financial 
statements.
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Gearing ratio
Gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings (including payables not incurred in the ordinary course of business 
of the Group) divided by the total equity as at the respective reporting dates.

Gearing ratio decreased from approximately 8.3% as at 31 December 2023 to approximately 7.1% as at 
31 December 2024. Such decrease was primarily resulted from the decrease in the percentage of the bank 
borrowings outweighed the percentage of the total equity reduction arising from loss for the year.

Foreign currency risk
Our Group’s foreign currency exposures arise mainly from the exchange rate movements of the US$ and RMB 
against THB and RMB against HK$. Any depreciation of THB will reduce the amount of revenue we generate in 
Thailand in terms of our reporting currency and adversely impact our results of operations. Similarly, the Group 
might also suffer exchange loss if RMB depreciates against HK$ because the deposits for purchase of raw 
materials are denominated in RMB. However, our Group has established a foreign currency risk management 
policy to monitor and manage foreign currency risks.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk relating to the variable rate bank balances and bank 
borrowings. The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to the certain bank borrowings 
which are interest bearing at fixed interest rate. The Group currently does not use any derivative contracts to 
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. The management of the Group maintains a balanced portfolio of fixed rate 
and variable rate borrowings.

Credit risk
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the 
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of the 
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group’s 
credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables arising from contracts with customers and deposits for 
purchase of raw materials and other receivables. In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors have delegated 
the senior management to be responsible for determination of credit limits and monitoring procedures to ensure 
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debtors. The management of the Group performs impairment 
assessment on individual debtor basis to estimate the amount of expected credit loss (“ECL”) of trade receivables 
based on internal credit ratings, ageing, collateral, repayment history and/or past due status of respective 
debtors and adjusted for forward-looking information. For deposits for purchase of raw materials and other 
receivables, the Directors have delegated the senior management to monitor the delivery progress and follow-up 
action is taken to recover from slow delivery materials and repayment. The management of the Group performs 
impairment assessment on the deposits for purchase of raw materials and other receivables individually. For 
bank deposits and balances, the management of the Group placed it in reputable banks with higher internal credit 
ratings with reference to either international or local credit-rating agencies, and ECL is insignificant. The Directors 
have the opinion that the Group have taken appropriate action to manage the credit risk.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s management monitors the Group’s cash flow positions on a regular basis to ensure the cash flows 
of the Group are closely controlled. The Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit 
lines available.
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Capital commitments
The Group did not have any material capital commitments as at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Future plans for material investments
Save as disclosed in the “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” section of the Prospectus, the Group did not have 
other plans for material investments and capital assets.

Employee and emolument policies
As at 31 December 2024, the employee headcount (including Directors) of the Group was 157 (2023: 174) and the 
total staff costs, including directors’ emoluments, amounted to approximately HK$22.8 million during the year 
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately HK$25.0 million). The Group recruits and promotes individuals 
based on their performance and development potential in the positions held. In order to attract and retain high 
quality staff and to enable smooth operations within the Group, the Group offered competitive remuneration 
packages (with reference to market conditions and individual qualifications and experience) and various in-house 
training courses. The remuneration packages are subject to review on a regular basis. The emoluments of the 
Directors and senior management are reviewed and approved by the Board of the Company, having regard to the 
Company’s operating results, market competitiveness, individual performance and achievement.

Contingent liabilities and litigation
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no material contingent liabilities and litigation (2023: Nil).

Capital structure
As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s authorised and issued share capital were HK$10,000,000 and 
HK$2,600,000 respectively. The number of its issued ordinary shares was 260,000,000 of HK$0.01 each.

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group since the listing date and up to the date of this 
report. The capital of the Company only comprises of ordinary shares.

Treasury policies
The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach towards its treasury policies and thus 
maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout the reporting period. To manage liquidity risk, the management 
closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position and maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the availability 
of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to settle the payables of the 
Group.

Charge of assets
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had not pledged its land, buildings and machinery to secure the banking 
facilities granted to the Group (2023: Nil).

Charge of register
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no charge of register.
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Production Capacity Utilization
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group sold approximately 0.2 million fkm of optical fibres and 
approximately 1.9 million fkm of optical fibre cables. The production capacity of optical fibres, optical fibre cables 
and optical cable cores were approximately 9.6 million fkm and 9.6 million fkm in FY2023 and FY2024 respectively.

The utilisation rate of optical fibres decreased from 17.3% to 2.6% from FY2023 to FY2024 and that of optical fibre 
cables and optical cable cores increased from 33.2% to 43.8% from FY2023 to FY2024. Both Transtech and Futong 
Thailand have adjusted their production volume based on the sales order.

Asset turnover ratio (Revenue/Total asset)
The Group’s revenue amounted to approximately HK$174.2 million in FY2023 and approximately HK$148.0 
million in FY2024 while the Group’s total assets amounted to approximately HK$517.1 million and approximately 
HK$395.0 million as of 31 December 2023 and 2024 respectively.

Hence, the Group’s asset turnover ratio increased from approximately 33.7% in FY2023 to approximately 37.5% 
in FY2024. This was mainly because of the degree of sales revenue drop approximately 15.0% and total asset 
reduction approximately 23.6% mainly due to the decrease of approximately 39.0% inventories balances as of 31 
December 2024 and the impairment losses on financial assets and prepayments approximately HK$60.3 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Future plans for material investments and capital assets
Save as the construction of the new factory in Thailand and the installation of optical fibre cable production line 
in Hong Kong (details referred to the section “Outlook” of Chairman’s Statement in this report), the Group did not 
have other plans for material investments and capital assets.

Material acquisition and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of 
subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Performance guarantees
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any performance guarantee given to or 
received from a connected person or an independent third party.

Post balance sheet events
The Group has entered into a credit and loan agreement on 27 February 2025 which Futong Thailand may borrow 
from a bank with a credit limit of THB300 million (equivalent to approximately HK$68,190,000). Futong Thailand has 
pledged a piece of land in Rayong, Thailand with an area of 58,149 square meters and the building thereon. The 
agreement period is valid for 30 years ending on 26 February 2054.

Saved as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other significant event requiring disclosure that has 
taken place subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the date of approval of this report.

B.	 ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group is dedicated to reduce its impacts to the environment from its factories and offices through mitigating 
the environmental pollutions and utilising resource efficiently. The Group strives to comply with related 
environmental laws and legislations, and continual improvement on its performance. The Company will attach 
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report in this report in compliance with the Appendix C2 of the Listing 
Rules.
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C.	 KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH ITS EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The Group aims to maintain a good relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers. For more details 
on how it creates a motivated workplace for its employees, produce quality products to satisfy its customers’ 
expectations and, establish long-term relationships with its suppliers, please refer details to the Environmental, 
Social and Governance Report in this Annual Report.

D.	 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant 
laws and regulations that has a significant impact on it.

E.	 CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The Group has entered into certain continuing connected transactions (“Continuing Connected Transactions”) with 
the connected person (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company. The Directors confirmed that the Company 
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the 
Non-fully Exempt Continuing Connected Transaction are shown as follows:

Non-fully exempt continuing connected transaction

Licensing of Premises from Futong Group International Limited (“Futong Group 
International”)
During the eight years ended 31 December 2024, Transtech operated from the premises located at 3 Dai Kwai 
Street, Tai Po Industrial Estate, Tai Po, New Territories, Hong Kong (the “Premises”) which was leased by Futong 
Group International from Hong Kong Science and Technology Parks Corporation (“HKSTP”). Futong Group 
International was owned by Mr. Wong Jianyi (“Mr. Wang”), the controlling shareholder, and Mr. He Xingfu (“Mr. 
He”), one of the executive directors, as to 90% and 10%, respectively as at the Listing date. On 9 March 2018, 
Mr. He transferred all his shares to Mr. Wang, and Mr. Wang became the sole shareholder of Futong Group 
International at the same date. Therefore, Futong Group International is a connected person of the Group.

On 20 October 2016, a licence agreement was entered into between Transtech and Futong Group International in 
relation to the Premises (“Licence Agreement”). The term of the licence is five years, from 1 July 2016 to 30 June 
2021.

On 7 July 2021, the Licence Agreement was renewed for a term of one year commencing on 1 July 2021 and 
terminating on 30 June 2022 (both days inclusive) (“FY2021 Licence Period”). On 4 July 2022, the Licence 
Agreement was renewed for a term of one year commencing on 1 July 2022 and terminating on 30 June 2023 (both 
days inclusive) (“FY2022 Licence Period”). During both the FY2021 Licence Period and FY2022 Licence Period, the 
licence fee payable by Transtech to Futong Group International is HK$900,000.00 per month. On 4 July 2023 and 4 
July 2024, the Licence Agreement was renewed for a term of one year ended on 30 June 2024 (“FY2023”) and 30 
June 2025 (“FY2024”) respectively, the monthly finance fee HK$750,000 and HK$650,000 are payable respectively 
by Transtech to Futong Group International. Management fee and maintenance charge (if any) payable under the 
lease in respect of the said premises will be paid by Futong Group International. On the other hand, government 
rent, government rates and other outgoings in respect of the said premises will be paid by Transtech. According 
to the two Licence Agreements, the licence fees are set out in the paragraph headed “Annual caps” below.
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Actual transaction value
For FY2017, FY2018, FY2019, FY2020, FY2021, FY2022, FY2023 and FY2024, Transtech has paid a sum of 
approximately HK$10.8 million, HK$11.9 million, HK$11.9 million HK$8.9 million, HK$9.2 million, HK$10.8 million, 
HK$9.9 million and HK$8.4 million respectively to Futong Group International, for its use of the Premises. For 
FY2020 and FY2021, Futong Group International waived three months rent in amount of HK$2,970,000 and 
HK$2,700,000 respectively to relieve the adverse impact from COVID-19.

Annual caps
The Group intends to continue to use the premises after the Listing. The Group will pay licence fee (inclusive of the 
management and maintenance charge (if any) payable under the head lease between HKSTP and Futong Group 
International (the “Head Lease”) but exclusive of the government rent, government rates and other outgoings) in 
relation to the Premises (“Licence Fee”) to Futong Group International for licensing the Premises. The annual cap 
of the Licence Fee for each of the six years ending 31 December 2024 in relation to the licensing of the Premises 
are set out below.

Annual Caps for the year ended 31 December

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million       

Licence Fee 11.9 11.9* 11.9* 10.8 9.9 8.4

*	 Futong Group International waived licence fee from January to March in 2020 and October to December in 2021 to relieve the impact of 

COVID-19

Listing rules implications
Since the highest applicable percentage ratio (other than the profits ratio) as defined in the Listing Rules as 
determined by reference to the annual caps in respect of the transactions contemplated under the Renewed 
Premises Licence Agreement concluded on 4 July 2024, on an annual basis, exceeds 5% but less than 25% and the 
aggregate rent is less than HK$10,000,000, the transactions contemplated under the Renewed Premises Licence 
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions for the Group and the Group is required to comply with 
announcement, reporting and annual review requirements but exempt from independent shareholders’ approval 
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Application for waivers
Pursuant to Rule 20.103 of the GEM Listing Rules, our Directors have applied for, and the Stock Exchange has 
granted to us, a waiver from strict compliance with the announcement requirement under Rule 20.33 of the GEM 
Listing Rules (i.e. Rule 14A.35 of the Main Board Listing Rules) in respect of such non-fully exempt continuing 
connected transaction, subject to the aggregate amount of each of the non-fully exempt continuing connected 
transaction for each financial year not exceeding the relevant annual caps as stated above.

Annual review
The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions conducted for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 and confirmed that such continuing connected transactions were carried out in the 
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, were on normal commercial terms and were in accordance 
with the relevant agreement on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders as a 
whole.
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the continuing connected transactions entered into by 
the Group in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance 
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice 
Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” 
issued by the HKICPA. Based on the results of the work performed, the auditor has issued a letter containing an 
unmodified conclusions in respect of the Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of 
the Listing Rules in confirming that:

a.	 nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the continuing connected transactions 
have not been approved by the Board;

b.	 nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the continuing connected transactions 
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the 
transactions;

c.	 nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the aggregate amount of each of the 
continuing connected transactions has exceeded the relevant annual cap as set by the Company.

The Company confirmed that the disclosure requirements for the continuing connected transactions have been 
complied with in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Continuing Connected Transactions conducted for the year ended 
31 December 2024 and the letter from the auditor with conclusions in respect of the continuing connected 
transactions set out above. On such basis, the Audit Committee was of the view that the continuing connected 
transactions were carried out in compliance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

F.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of related party transactions of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 
29 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Save as disclosed in section E headed “Continuing Connected 
Transaction” above, certain of these transactions also constitute connected transactions/continuing connected 
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed that it has complied with the 
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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G.	 USE OF PROCEEDS
As the GEM Listing took place on 20 July 2017, the net proceeds from the Global Offering has been fully utilised by 
the Company during the eight years ended 31 December 2024.

Progress on achievement of business objective and Use of Proceeds

Business Strategies as Stated in the 
Prospectus

Proposed 
amount to
be used 

Actual amount 
utilized up to 
31 December 
2024

Unused 
amount as at 
31 December 
2024 Explanation

(HK$million) (HK$million) (HK$million)     

Approximately 80% of the net proceeds 
will be used for implementing the 
expansion plan of new production facility 
in Thailand, including the construction of a 
factory in Thailand.

73.4 73.4 0 Fully utilized for new factory construction and machine 
installation.

Approximately 5% of the net proceeds will 
be used for strengthening the research 
and development capabilities and 
expanding the range of products.

4.6 4.6 0 Fully utilized for the research and development 
expenditure.

Approximately 5% of the net proceeds will 
be used for enhancing the relationship 
with existing customers and exploring new 
customers in Hong Kong and the ASEAN.

4.6 4.6 0 Fully utilized for the business development in the ASEAN 
countries.

Approximately 10% of the net proceeds 
will be used as the general working capital 
and for general corporate purposes.

9.2 9.2 0 Fully utilized for factory rent and electricity fee in Hong 
Kong for the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 
2017     

Total 91.8 91.8 0     

As at 31 December 2024, approximately HK$9.2 million of the net proceeds from the Global offering has been 
utilised for settlement of payable for factory rent and utility fee in Hong Kong, approximately HK$4.6 million 
for developing customers relationship, approximately HK$4.6 million for research and development and 
approximately HK$73.4 million for the new factory construction in Thailand.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES AND OTHER INFORMATION
The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing 
Rules as its own code of corporate governance practices. The Company has complied with the code provisions as set 
out in the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2024. The Company will continue to review and enhance its 
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code. The Company is committed to maintaining a 
high standard of corporate governance and believes that a good corporate governance can (i) enhance management 
effectiveness and efficiency; (ii) increase the transparency of the Company; (iii) enhance risk management and internal 
control of the Company; and (iv) safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the Company and the Company as a 
whole.

Save as disclosed below, the Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions set out in Part 2 of the 
Corporate Governance Code throughout the period from the Listing Date up to the Latest Practicable Date.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG Code, companies listed on the Stock Exchange are expected to 
comply with, but may choose to deviate from the requirement that the responsibilities between the Chairman and the 
Chief Executive Officer should be segregated and should not be performed by the same individual. We do not have a 
separate Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer and Mr. He Xingfu currently performs these two roles. The Board 
believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer in the same person can facilitate the 
execution of the Group’s business strategies and boost effectiveness of its operation. The Board further believes that 
the balance of power and authority for the arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately ensured by the Board 
which comprises experienced and high caliber individuals with sufficient number thereof being Independent Non-
executive Directors, which can provide sufficient checks to protect the interests of the Company and the shareholders. 
The Board is keeping this situation under review and will separate the role of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
when it is in the Company’s best interest to do so.

The Company will continue to regularly review and monitor its corporate governance practices to ensure compliance 
with the CG Code, and maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices of the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY 
DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in 
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). The Company, after making specific inquiries to all Directors, 
confirmed that all of them have complied with the required standards in the Model Code for the year ended 31 
December 2024.

INSURANCE ON DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES
The Company has arranged for liability insurance cover to indemnify the Board against liability for compensation arising 
from their corporate activities. Purchase of liability insurance can enhance the Company’s ability to reduce exposure 
to risks. The insurance coverage is reviewed by the Company on an annual basis. Save as disclosed, no permitted 
indemnity provision (whether made by the Company or otherwise) is in force for the benefit of one or more Directors.

PUBLICATION OF THE ANNUAL REPORT
The Company’s 2024 annual report will be despatched to the Company’s shareholders on or before 30 April 
2025 and will be available at the website of each of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk ) and the Company 
(www.transtechoptel.com ).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The AGM will be held on 3 June 2025 (Tuesday) and the Notice of AGM will be published and despatched in the manner 
as required by the Listing Rules.
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THE BOARD
Board Composition
Up to the date of this report, the Board comprises seven Directors, four of whom are executive Directors and the other 
three are independent non-executive Directors. Details of their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. He Xingfu 

(Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as director on 6 September 2016, redesignated as executive 
  director on 23 June 2017)

Mr. Ren Guodong (appointed as executive director on 1 July 2021)
Mr. Xu Jinjie (appointed as executive director on 1 October 2022)
Ms. Sheng Lingfei (appointed as executive director on 1 December 2024)
Mr. Yin Zhou (appointed as executive director on 1 October 2022 and 

  resigned on 1 November 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lau Siu Hang (appointed on 23 June 2017)
Mr. Li Wei (appointed on 23 June 2017)
Mr. Leong Chew Kuan (appointed on 23 June 2017)

The Company has complied with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules to appoint at least three independent non-executive 
Directors, together with the requirements of Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules stipulating that at least one of the 
independent non-executive Directors must have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related 
financial management expertise. The Board considers that each independent non-executive Director is independent in 
character and judgment and that they all meet the specific independence criteria as required by the Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation pursuant to Rule 3.13 
of the Listing Rules and the Company still considers such Directors to be independent.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of 
this report. There are no family or other material relationships among members of the Board.

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance
The Board has established three committees, namely, the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration 
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), on 23 June 
2017 with delegated powers for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of the committees of the 
Company has been established with written terms of reference.
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The Board will conduct at least four regular meetings a year. The Directors can attend meetings in person or through 
other means of electronic communication in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles”). 
The chairman of the Board also meets with the independent non-executive Directors at least once a year without the 
presence of the executive Directors. Notices and agendas of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at 
least 14 days before convening the Board meeting. For all other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is 
generally given. All other schedules and the relevant information of each Board and committee meeting are generally 
made available to Directors or committee members at least three days in advance. The Board and each Director also 
have separate and independent access to the management whenever necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company held one Annual General Meeting, eight Board meetings, four 
Audit Committee meetings, two Remuneration Committee meetings, two Nomination Committee meeting and one 
meeting between the Board Chairman and the independent non-executive directors. All minutes of the Board meetings 
and meetings of Board committees were recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and the 
decisions reached. Details of the attendance of Directors are as follows:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

Name of Directors

Annual 
General 
Meeting

Board
Meeting

Audit
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Nomination
Committee

Chairman and
INED Meeting

       

Executive Directors:
Mr. He Xingfu 1/1 8/8 N/A 2/2 2/2 1/1
Mr. Ren Guodong 1/1 8/8 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Xu Jinjie 1/1 8/8 N/A N/A 2/2 N/A
Mr. Yin Zhou # 1/1 5/8 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Ms. Sheng Lingfei* N/A 1/8 N/A 1/2 N/A N/A

Independent Non-executive 
  Directors:
Mr. Leong Chew Kuan 1/1 8/8 4/4 2/2 2/2 1/1
Mr. Lau Siu Hang 1/1 8/8 4/4 2/2 2/2 1/1
Mr. Li Wei 1/1 8/8 4/4 2/2 2/2 1/1

The company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) attended all the scheduled meetings as shown in the 
above table to report matters arising from corporate governance, risk management, statutory compliance, accounting 
and finance.

#	 resigned on 1 November 2024

*	 newly appointed on 1 December 2024
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ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Group. The Board oversees the Group’s business operation, 
strategic development and financial performance. Directors of the Board take decisions objectively in the interests of 
the Group. All board members have a broad range of valuable business experience and competence to contribute to 
the Board.

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for implementing day-to-day operations, business strategies 
and management of the Group’s business to the executive Directors, senior management and certain specific 
responsibilities to the Board Committees (as defined below).

Practice and Conduct of Meetings
Schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally made available to Directors in advance. At least 14 days’ 
notice should be given for a regular Board meeting. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notices are 
generally given.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters considered and decisions reached are duly kept by 
the Company Secretary at the meetings and open for inspection by the Directors.

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at 
meetings for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their close associates have a material interest.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days 
before each Board meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments and 
financial position of the Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
The Nomination Committee will give adequate consideration to the Board Diversity Policy and review the profiles of the 
candidates and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and nomination of Directors.

According to the Articles, any Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office, in the case of either filling a casual 
vacancy or an addition to their number, until the next following annual general meeting of the Company who shall then 
be eligible for re-election at such annual general meeting.

All Directors have entered into service agreements or letters of engagement with the Company for a term of not more 
than three years and they are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

The Company has appointed three Independent Non-executive Directors and one of them has appropriate professional 
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the 
Listing Rules. As required under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the number of Independent Non-executive Directors of 
the Company represents at least one-third of the Board.

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers that all of the Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent.
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Any re-election of an Independent Non-executive Director who has served the Board for more than nine years, his/her 
further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by Shareholders.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Xu Jinjie, Ms. Sheng Lingfei and Mr. Leong Chew Kuan shall retire from office, and, 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Every newly appointed Director will be given an introduction of regulatory requirements. The Directors are continually 
updated on the latest development of the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements to ensure compliance 
and upkeep of good corporate governance practice. The Directors are also encouraged to participate in continuous 
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company Secretary facilitates the 
induction and professional development of Directors.

All Directors have provided to the Company with their records of training received for the financial year ended 31 
December 2024.

BOARD MEETING
The Board is committed to holding regular board meetings at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. 
The Group establishes an effective communication among all the Directors.

The attendance record of each director at the above-mentioned board meeting and the annual general meeting held in 
2024 has been set out below:

Name of Directors

Attendance/
Number of

Board meeting

Annual general 
meeting held 

in 2024
   

Executive Directors:
Mr. He Xingfu (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer) 8/8 1/1
Mr. Ren Guodong 8/8 1/1
Mr. Xu Jinjie 8/8 1/1
Ms. Sheng Lingfei* 1/8 N/A
Mr. Yin Zhou# 5/8 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Leong Chew Kuan 8/8 1/1
Mr. Lau Siu Hang 8/8 1/1
Mr. Li Wei 8/8 1/1

#	 resigned on 1 November 2024

*	 newly appointed on 1 December 2024
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BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established three committees, namely Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination 
Committee (collectively, “Board Committees”), to oversee different aspects of the Group’s affairs and to assist in the 
execution of the Board’s responsibilities.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company established the Audit Committee on 23 June 2017 with written terms of reference during the year 
ended 31 December 2024 in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules after listing in Main Board. The full terms 
of reference setting out details of the authority, duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee is available on the 
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee will hold at least two meetings a year and will also meet the external auditor at least twice a year 
without the presence of the executive Directors. Terms of reference adopted by the Audit Committee are aligned with 
the Code Provisions set out in the CG Code.

As at 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau 
Siu Hang, Mr. Li Wei and Mr. Leong Chew Kuan. Mr. Leong Chew Kuan is the Chairman.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee held five meetings. Each committee meeting has been 
supplied with the necessary financial information of the Group for members to consider, review and access significant 
issues arising from the work conducted.

Names of members

Attendance/
Number of 

meetings
  

Mr. Leong Chew Kuan (Chairman) 4/4
Mr. Lau Siu Hang 4/4
Mr. Li Wei 4/4

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 23 June 2017 with specific written terms of reference which 
deal clearly with its authorities and duties. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are published on the 
websites of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Company respectively.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

•	 making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors 
and senior management of the Group;

•	 reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Company’s goals and 
objectives;

•	 determining, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and senior 
management and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of Non-executive Directors;
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•	 reviewing and approving compensation payable to Executive Directors and senior management and compensation 
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct; and

•	 ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee may consult the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer about their remuneration 
proposals for other Executive Directors. It has explicit authority to seek any necessary information from the employees 
within its scope of duties and the authority to obtain external independent professional advice, at the Company’s 
expense, to perform its responsibilities if it considers necessary.

The remuneration policies for the Company as well as the Directors are aligned with the market and reward for 
performance. The Company reviews the remuneration package annually, taking into consideration of the market 
practice, competitive market position and individual performance.

The Remuneration Committee will meet at least once a year and the quorum of meetings of Remuneration Committee 
shall be any two members. Terms of reference adopted by the Remuneration Committee are aligned with the Code 
Provisions set out in the CG Code.

As at 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee consists of five members which comprises, two executive 
Directors, namely Mr. He Xingfu and Ms. Sheng Lingfei, and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau 
Siu Hang, Mr. Leong Chew Kuan and Mr. Li Wei. Mr. Lau Siu Hang is the chairman.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings for reviewing the 
remuneration policy of the Company.

Names of members

Attendance/
Number of 

meetings
  

Mr. Lau Siu Hang (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. He Xingfu 2/2
Ms. Sheng Lingfei* 1/2
Mr. Yin Zhou# 0/2
Mr. Leong Chew Kuan 2/2
Mr. Li Wei 2/2

#	 resigned on 1 November 2024

*	 newly appointed on 1 December 2024

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Company established the Nomination Committee on 23 June 2017 with specific written terms of reference which 
deal clearly with its authorities and duties. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are published on the 
websites of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Company respectively.
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The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include:

•	 reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and making recommendations on any proposed 
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

•	 identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and selecting or making recommendations to 
the Board;

•	 making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession 
planning for Directors;

•	 assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors; and

•	 reviewing the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate; and reviewing the measurable objectives that have been set 
for implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and the progress on achieving the objectives.

Where vacancies exist at the Board, candidates are proposed and put forward to the Nomination Committee for 
consideration. The recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be tendered to the Board for approval. In 
considering the nomination of a new Director, the Nomination Committee will give adequate consideration to the Board 
Diversity Policy and take into account the qualification, ability, working experience, leadership and professional ethics of 
the candidates. In determining the independence of Directors, the Board follows the requirements set out in the Listing 
Rules.

The Nomination Committee has explicit authority to seek any necessary information from the employees within its 
scope of duties and the authority to obtain external independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, to 
perform its responsibilities if it considers necessary.

The Nomination Committee will meet at least once a year and the quorum of meetings of the Nomination Committee 
shall be any two members. Terms of reference adopted by the Nomination Committee are aligned with the Code 
Provisions set out in the CG Code. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee reviewed the 
composition of the Board and the retirement and re-election of Directors. 

As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee consists of two executive Directors, namely Mr. He Xingfu and 
Mr. Xu Jinjie, and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Leong Chew Kuan, Mr. Li Wei and Mr. Lau Siu 
Hang. Mr. He Xingfu is the chairman.

The Committee held two meetings during the year and the attendance records of the members at the meeting are set 
out below:

Names of members

Attendance/
Number of 

meetings
  

Mr. He Xingfu (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Xu Jinjie 2/2
Mr. Leong Chew Kuan 2/2
Mr. Li Wei 2/2
Mr. Lau Siu Hang 2/2
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Nomination Policy
The Board has adopted the nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) which sets out the nomination criteria and 
procedures for the Company to select candidate(s) for possible inclusion in the Board. The Nomination Policy could 
assist the Company to achieve board diversity in the Company and enhance the effectiveness of the Board and its 
corporate governance standard.

When assessing the suitability of a candidate, factors such as the qualifications, skills, integrity and experience will be 
taken into consideration as a whole. In the case of independent non-executive Directors, they must further satisfy the 
independence criteria set out within Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Since the selection of candidates should ensure that 
diversity remains a central feature of the Board, a range of diverse perspectives, including but not limited to gender, 
age, cultural and educational background, or professional experience would be considered.

The process to identify potential candidates for the Board would be as follows:

1.	 identifying potential candidates, including recommendations from the Board members, professional search firms 
and the shareholders of the Company;

2.	 evaluating the candidates based on the approved selection criteria through methods such as reviewing the 
resume and conducting the background checks;

3.	 reviewing the profiles of the shortlisted candidates and interview them; and

4.	 making recommendations to the Board on the selected candidates. The Nomination Policy also includes the Board 
succession plan to assess whether vacancies on the Board would be created or expected due to the Directors’ 
resignation, retirement, death and other circumstances and to identify candidates in advance if necessary. The 
Nomination Policy will be reviewed on a regular basis.

Board Diversity Policy
The Board adopted its Board Diversity Policy in June 2017. A summary of the policy is as follows:

In designing the Board’s composition, board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including but not 
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, or professional experience. All Board appointments will be 
based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits 
of diversity on the Board. The Nomination Committee will disclose annually, in the corporate governance report, on 
the Board’s composition under diversified perspectives (including gender, age, cultural and educational background, 
or professional experience), and monitor the implementation of this policy. The Nomination Committee will also review 
the diversity policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the diversity policy. The Nomination Committee will 
discuss any revisions which may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and 
approval.

The Board adopted its Board Diversity Policy in respect of gender by the appointment of Ms. Sheng Lingfei on 1 
December 2024.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The statement of the external auditor of the Company on their reporting responsibilities for the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s 
Report” in this report.

The fees paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services for the year ended 
31 December 2024 are as follows:

Nature of services
Amount 

(HK$’000)
  

Total audit services 900
Total non-audit services 41  

Total fees 941
  

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The Company has adopted full disclosure of remunerations of Directors with disclosure in Note 9 to the financial 
statements.

The remuneration of the member of senior management by bands in 2024 is set out below:

Remuneration bands
Number of 
individuals

  

Nil–HK$1,000,000 1

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for each financial period 
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results of operations and cash flows for 
that period. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors 
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and estimates that are 
prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the consolidated financial statements as set out on pages 
88 to 90 of this report. The statement of the external auditor about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated 
financial statements is set out in the paragraph headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 81 to 87 of this report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board has overall responsibilities for the establishment and maintenance of an adequate and effective risk 
management and internal control system to safeguard the Group’s assets against unauthorized use or disposition, and 
to protect the interests of shareholders of the Company. Internal audit function of the Company has been carried out 
under the leadership of the Board and the Audit Committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report, the Board, through the Audit Committee 
meetings which were held four times during the year, conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control 
system of the Group covering all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance as well as risk 
management. The Board considers the Group’s risk management and internal control is adequate and effective.

COMPANY SECRETARY
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the company secretary has duly complied with the relevant professional 
training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS
Communication between the Company and its shareholders are achieved through various means including the 
convening of general meetings, the dispatch of annual reports, interim reports and circulars. The Chairman of the Board 
also proposes separate resolution for each substantive issue including re-election of Directors.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convening an extraordinary general meeting
Pursuant to Articles 64 of the Articles, an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) may be convened by the Board on a 
written requisition of any one or more shareholders of the Company holding not less than 10% of the paid up capital of 
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meeting of the Company. The EGM shall be held within two months 
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene the EGM, 
the requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a 
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) of the Company.

Enquiries put to the Board
Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests in respect of their rights to the principal place of business of the 
Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the company secretary.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Board has adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) which sets out the appropriate procedure on 
declaring and recommending the dividend payment of the Company. The Company takes priority to distributing 
dividends in cash and shares its profits with the shareholders of the Company. The dividend distribution decision of the 
Company will depend on, among others, the financial results, the current and future operations, liquidity and capital 
requirements, financial condition and other factors as the Board may deem relevant. The Board may also declare 
special dividends from time to time. The Dividend Policy will be reviewed on a regular basis.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
The Company establishes different communication channels with investors to update the latest business development 
and financial performance including the publication of interim and annual reports, the publishing and posting of notices, 
announcements and circulars on the website of each of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk ) and the Company 
(www.transtechoptel.com ) in a timely manner in order to maintain a high level of transparency, and to ensure there is 
no selective disclosure of inside information.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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ABOUT THE ENVIRONMENTAL , SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
The Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG Report”) of Transtech Optelecom Science Holdings Limited (the 
“Company” together with its subsidiaries, hereinafter to as the “Group”, “We” or “Us”) illustrates the Environmental, 
Social and Governance (“ESG”) initiatives, plans and performance of the Company and its subsidiaries for the financial 
year from 1st January 2024 to 31st December, 2024 (the “Year”).

The ESG Report provides an overview on the Group’s sustainability performance and demonstrates its commitment to 
sustainable development. The ESG Report has been reviewed by the senior management and approved by the Board 
of the Directors (the “Board”). The Company owns two major operating subsidiaries, Transtech and Futong Thailand in 
Hong Kong and Thailand respectively. Transtech is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of optical fibres, 
and its production facilities are located in Hong Kong. Futong Thailand is principally engaged in the manufacturing and 
sales of optical fibres cables, optical cable cores and other related products, and its production facilities are located in 
Thailand.

The Group adheres to the management policies of sustainable ESG development and is committed to handling the 
Group’s ESG affairs effectively and responsibly.

ESG Governance Structure
The Group strives to create value for its shareholders to fulfil its corporate social responsibilities. We are committed to 
incorporating ESG considerations into our decision-making process. To achieve this goal, we have developed a core 
governance structure to ensure that ESG remains aligned with our strategic growth and advocate for the integration of 
ESG into our business operations. Our ESG governance structure is divided into two parts, the Board of Directors (the 
“Board”) and the ESG Taskforce. The Board retains ultimate oversight over the Group’s ESG issues, including its ESG 
approaches, strategies and policies. In order to better manage the Group’s performance in these aspects and identify 
potential risks, the Board, with the assistance of the ESG Taskforce, regularly conducts materiality assessments to 
assess and prioritise material ESG-related issues, taking into account the views of different stakeholders.

The ESG Taskforce comprises core members from different departments and facilitates the Board’s oversight of ESG 
issues. The ESG Taskforce is responsible for collecting and analysing ESG data, monitoring and evaluating the Group’s 
ESG performance, ensuring compliance with ESG-related laws and regulations, and preparing ESG reports. The ESG 
Taskforce arranges regular meetings to evaluate the effectiveness of current policies and procedures, and formulate 
appropriate solutions to improve the efficiency. The ESG Taskforce reports regularly to the Board, assists in assessing 
and identifying the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities, evaluates the implementation and effectiveness of the internal 
control mechanism, and reviews the progress of established goals and targets.

Corporate Philosophy
Our products are mainly used for telecommunication infrastructure in Asia countries. We highly emphasis product 
quality and strictly inspect and improve all the processes from raw materials to semi-finished and finished products to 
ensure that products are aligned with industry and national standards, and contribute to the communications industry.

REPORTING BOUNDARY
The ESG Report illustrates the Group’s overall performance in environmental and social dimensions and covers all 
principal operating activities of production factories, warehouses and offices in Hong Kong and Thailand. Compared 
with the reporting boundary of the ESG Report for the financial year from 1st January, 2024 to 31st December, 2024, 
there is no significant change in that of the ESG Report.
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REPORTING FRAMEWORK
The ESG Report is prepared on the basis of Appendix C2 “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (“ESG 
Reporting Guide”) to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX”). 
The ESG Report has complied with all mandatory disclosure requirements and “comply or explain” provisions outlined in 
the ESG Reporting Guide.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES
In preparing this ESG Report, we complied with the three reporting principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide — 
those are “materiality”, “quantitative” and “consistency”.

Materiality
This report follows the ESG Reporting Guide to carry out materiality assessment work. Our working procedures include: 
(i) identifying relevant ESG issues; (ii) assessing the materiality of the issues; and (iii) reviewing and confirming the 
assessment process and results by the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”). We report ESG matters based 
on the materiality assessment results. Details on materiality assessment work are disclosed in “Materiality Assessment” 
section of the ESG Report.

Quantitative
This report follows the ESG Reporting Guide and refers to applicable quantitative standards and conventions, and adopts 
quantitative methods to measure and disclose applicable key performance indicators. The measurement standards, 
methods, assumptions and/or calculation tools of the key performance indicators, the sources of the conversion factors 
used and the relevant environmental objectives are disclosed in the “Environmental Protection” section of the ESG 
Report.

Consistency
The preparation method of this year’s ESG Report is consistent with that of previous years, and any changes that may 
affect meaningful comparison with previous reports would be stated accordingly.

Balance
The Company shall fairly prepare the ESG Report and state in facts the positive and negative impact of the Group’s 
business on the environment and society. This is to ensure that stakeholders can be provided with accurate information 
to make an appropriate assessment of the Group’s performance.

FEEDBACKS
The Group welcomes stakeholders to share their feedback and opinions for the continuous improvement. Should 
you have any comments or suggestions to the ESG Report, please send to the Group at No. 3 Dai Kwai Street, Tai Po 
Industrial Estate, Tai Po, New Territories, Hong Kong.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT
This is a forward-looking statement that includes current views and assumptions used by the management to assess 
and identify risks and opportunities brought by material ESG issues for the Group’s performance, and such risks and 
opportunities may result in certain exposures and uncertainties leading to the material difference between the actual 
result and the expected one.
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CONFIRMATION AND APPROVAL
The information in the ESG Report is sourced from official documents and the Group’s statistics. This ESG Report is 
reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors.

OUR APPROACH TO ESG
Board Statement
The Group believes that sound ESG governance strategies and practices are the keys to enhancing its investment value, 
thereby bringing long-term returns for its stakeholders. The Board bears the responsibilities to oversee and review the 
Group’s ESG strategies and reports, determines and evaluates the ESG risks of the Group, and ensures that relevant risk 
management and internal control systems are in place and operated effectively. The Board has delegated the authority 
to an ESG working group, which comprises senior management of the Group. ESG working group meetings have 
been held successfully during the Year. Through meetings and discussions, the ESG working group set and reviewed 
policies and guidelines to address environmental and social matters. Moreover, key performance indicators are closely 
monitored for the purpose of ensuring continuous improvement.

Furthermore, the Board is responsible for executing and evaluating the stakeholder engagement process. To gather the 
opinions of the Group’s stakeholders on ESG issues, the Board has assigned a third-party ESG professional in conducting 
materiality assessment to identify issues that are likely to influence the business and our stakeholders. The issues would 
be reviewed and prioritised, and those with high significance to the Group and stakeholders are considered as material. 
The Board reviews and concludes the material ESG issues of the Group. Besides, the Board has developed engagement 
channels to maintain adequate communication with different stakeholders and keep abreast of stakeholders’ concerns 
and expectations in ESG aspects.

In the aim of formulating and executing effective ESG policies and measures, the Board reviews the plans and execution 
of ESG-related work with respect to its targets and goals during regular meetings. The Group also shares its progress in 
ESG with different stakeholders, most notably through the Group’s annual ESG Report. The Board will continue to seek 
opportunities to pursue improvement in ESG performance.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
We believe stakeholders’ participation is an integral part of the Group’s continuous improvement in sustainable 
development performance, therefore, we value all stakeholders’ views (including but not limited to shareholders 
and investors, customers, suppliers, employees, government and regulatory bodies, peers and industry chambers of 
commerce and communities, non-governmental organisations and media). To fully understand, respond and address 
the core concerns of different stakeholders, we have been closely communicating with different stakeholders. The 
Group invited the stakeholders below by questionnaire to understand their expectations of the Group and we actively 
brought their expectations into our operations:
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Stakeholders Concerns Communication Channels
   

Customers •	 Product quality, price and delivery date
•	 Corporate financial performance/conditions
•	 Corporate reputation and brand image
•	 Market demand
•	 Business ethics

•	 Telephone/email
•	 Customer quality evaluation form
•	 Customer visit
•	 Social media
•	 Accounts manage

Employees •	 Salaries and welfare; educational training; 
promotion opportunities

•	 Occupational safety; labour conditions;  
complaints

•	 Protection of employee’s rights and interests

•	 Publications/notice boards in the offices
•	 Suggestion boxes/mail boxes/email
•	 Regular management communication and 

performance appraisals

Shareholders 
and Potential 
Investors

•	 Corporate financial performance/conditions
•	 Corporate dividends policy
•	 Corporate governance and integrity; risk 

management; laws and regulations compliance

•	 Annual and interim results announcements
•	 Annual report and interim report
•	 Corporate website
•	 Meeting with fund managers and analysts
•	 Annual general meeting

Government  
and Regulators

•	 Environmental pollution; product safety; energy 
conservation and emission reduction

•	 Labour conditions; laws and regulations 
compliance

•	 Economic contribution
•	 Anti-corruption

•	 Government website
•	 Official documents/meetings Written reports/

visits
•	 Monitoring/inspection
•	 Promote economic development and employment

Suppliers •	 Quality, price and delivery date
•	 Corporate financial performance/conditions
•	 Reduce business risks

•	 Telephone/email
•	 Site visits
•	 Social media

Landlords •	 Customer flow
•	 Corporate financial performance/conditions
•	 Tenants mix

•	 Telephone/email
•	 Site visits

Media •	 Corporate governance
•	 Corporate reputation and brand image

•	 Press conferences/press releases
•	 Annual and interim results announcements
•	 Corporate website

Contractors •	 Quality, price and delivery date
•	 Laws and regulations compliance

•	 Telephone/email
•	 Site visits

Banks •	 Corporate financial performance/conditions
•	 Corporate dividends policy
•	 Corporate governance and integrity; risk 

management; laws and regulations compliance

•	 Telephone/email
•	 Annual and interim results announcements
•	 Annual report and interim report
•	 Corporate website
•	 Update meetings
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT
The Group has compiled a survey with open-ended questions in accordance with the identified material ESG issues, 
and invited various stakeholders to assess the materiality of these issues by enabling them to provide their feedback on 
the ESG issues of the Group. The Group’s management and staff in major functions are involved in the preparation of 
the ESG Report, so as to assist the Group in reviewing its operations and identifying the relevant ESG issues, and assess 
the materiality of those relevant issues to our business and stakeholders. The Group values stakeholders’ opinions, and 
identifies and determines material topics included in the ESG Report through feedback from relevant stakeholders.

The following chart illustrates the materiality matrix compiled by the Group based on the feedback as to the materiality 
assessment for the Year:
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ENVIRONMENT LABOUR OPERATION COMMUNITY
    

1	 Air emissions
2	 Greenhouse gas emissions
3	 Climate change
4	 Energy efficiency
5	 Use of water resources and 

effluent discharge
6	 Use of materials
7	 Waste management
8	 Environmental compliance

9	 Labour rights
10	 Labour relations
11	 Employee retention
12	 Diversity and equal 

opportunity
13	 Nondiscrimination
14	 Occupational health and 

safety
15	 Employee training
16	 Employee development
17	 Prevention of child labour 

and forced labour

18	 Customer satisfaction
19	 Customer service quality and 

complaint handling
20	 Customers’ health and safety
21	 Compliance with regulations 

on marketing and product 
and service labelling

22	 Intellectual property
23	 Protection of customer 

privacy and information
24	 Responsible supply chain 

management
25	 Business ethics
26	 Socio-economic compliance

27	 Community investment
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A1.	 Emissions
The Group also continues to focus on regulating the Group’s environmental management by establishing an 
environmental management system for the Group’s subsidiaries, which complies with the ISO14001: 2015 
Environmental Management System certification.

The Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and regulations in Hong Kong and 
Thailand related to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of 
hazardous and non-hazardous waste, that would have a significant impact on the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2024.

Since the production process may affect the environment, we focus on strengthening environmental 
protection measures to comply with relevant local laws and regulations and implement environmental 
policies. Through continuous enhancement of measures and promoting clean production to reduce 
the emission of pollutants, the Group commits itself to fulfilling the responsibility for ecological and 
environmental protection during its pursuit of economic benefits.

Supervisors at all levels will continue their supervision and submit reports to the management with proposed 
suggestions. If there is an emergency affecting the environment during the production process, supervisors 
at all levels may immediately implement the response plans to prevent further effects and report to the 
management in a timely manner in order to coordinate the work. The supervisors of the Group will strictly 
supervise the implementation of the above measures, comply with the relevant environmental protection 
policies, and ensure that all operational processes meet the relevant laws and regulations.

Exhaust Gas Emissions
Exhaust gas emissions generated from business operations of the Group mainly include nitrogen dioxide 
(NO2), sulphur dioxide (SO2) and particulate matter (PM), the major source of which are vehicle exhaust gas 
and the level of relevant gas emissions generated by the Group during production is not material. To reduce 
the exhaust gas emissions from the abovementioned source, the Group has formulated related policies and 
implemented various reduction measures.

The following table summarises the exhaust gas emissions of the Group:

2024 2023
Total

Emissions
Total

Emissions
Exhaust Gas Category (in Kg) (in Kg)
   

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) 93.40 92.61
Sulphur oxides (SOx) 0.72 0.72
Particulate Matter (PM) 8.77 8.70
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The following Measures were taken to reduce exhaust gas emissions generated from emission of vehicles:

•	 Switch off the engine whenever the vehicle is idling;

•	 Use unleaded fuel and low sulphur content fuel in accordance with laws and regulations;

•	 Phase out substandard vehicles in accordance with government emission policies and standards;

•	 Plan routes in advance to optimise fuel consumption;

•	 Provide maintenance services to vehicles on a regular basis to ensure engine performance and 
efficient use of fuels; and

•	 Optimise operational procedures to increase the loading rate and reduce the idling rate of vehicles.

We have implemented the following measures to reduce industrial exhaust gas emissions:

•	 Enhance facilities management and maintain treatment facilities on a regular basis to keep the 
facilities in normal operation;

•	 Prioritise the adoption of clean production techniques with energy efficiency and reduce exhaust gas 
emissions; and

•	 Review the safety and environmental performances of production equipment on a regular basis, and 
select advanced production machinery and equipment.

By adopting the abovementioned measures, the Group’s concentration of industrial exhaust gas emissions 
met the emission limits as required by the local government during the Year.
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions
The Group’s Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) emissions are generated from refrigerants, diesel for mobile 
machinery, gasoline for transportation and natural gas for cooking (Scope 1), and purchased electricity (Scope 
2).

Scope of Greenhouse 
Gas Emissions

Emission 
Sources

GHG Emission
(in kgCO2eq.)

Total GHG 
Emission

(in percentage)
2024 2023 2024 2023

      

Scope 1 Direct Emission
Combustion of fuels in mobiles sources Petrol 123.76 123.88 5.18% 3.85%

Scope 2 Energy Indirect Emission
Purchased electricity Electricity 2,263.63 3,101.64 94.82% 96.15%      

TOTAL 2,387.39 3,225.52 100% 100%
      

Note:	 Emission factors were made by reference to the Main Board Listing Rules and their referred documentation as set out by Hong 

Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, unless stated otherwise.

Pollutants Management
To minimise the GHG emissions, the Group has proactively implemented the following measures:

•	 Actively adopting environmental conservation and water-saving measures, which are referred in the 
sections headed “Energy Consumption” and “Water Consumption” of Aspect A2;

•	 Actively adopting paper-saving measures, which are referred to in the section headed “Waste 
Disposal” of this Aspect;

•	 Actively promoting the greenery of production plants, which is referred in the section headed “Plant 
Afforestation” of Aspect A3;

•	 Reducing the emission of vehicles, which are referred to in the section “Exhaust Gas Emissions” of this 
Aspect; and

•	 Business trips are minimised and are replaced by video conferences, online meetings and other 
electronic communications.
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Wastes Management
The Group has carried out waste segregation processes to facilitate further waste management processes 
and ensure proper disposal complying with statutory and regulatory regulations. Measures have been taken 
to ensure proper handling of waste. We conduct staff training to ensure appropriate handling of waste and 
promote the sense of recycling. Moreover, the categories and amounts of waste disposed of are recorded 
in the waste disposal system for further analysis and audit trail. In FY2024, the major hazardous waste 
produced by the Group was non-halogenated solvents which amounted to 0.2 tonnes (2023: 0.2 tonnes), 
as well as waste oil including printing ink and engine oil which amounted to 0.74 tonnes (2023: 0.2 tonnes). 
All of them were collected and handled according to the Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong and other 
relevant laws and requirements and were subsequently transported to qualified suppliers for disposal, thus 
preventing further pollution resulting from improper treatment.

Furthermore, the Group is committed to enhancing awareness of waste sorting and recycling among 
employees. Recycling bins have been placed in production and living areas to improve recycling rates of 
recyclable waste. Besides, offices and factories have been reminded to avoid printing single-sided paper for 
the purpose of paper utilisation.

In FY2024, the details of the non-hazardous waste management in the Group’s factories in Hong Kong and 
Thailand are listed with last year’s comparative figures as follows:

Category of the 
non-hazardous wastes

Amount Produced
(tonnes)

Amount recycled
(tonnes) Recycling rate

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
       

Metal compounds 13.86 10.20 13.57 9.80 98.21% 89.00%
Glass rod 0.69 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00%
Paper 24.28 12.70 24.20 12.20 99.66% 96.3%
Plastics and plastic compounds 33.47 33.90 32.66 30.30 93.93% 89.00%
Scrapped optical fibres and 
  optical fibre cables 23.48 36.01 23.06 32.00 98.21% 96.00%
Wood 12.33 9.51 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00%

Note 1:	 Given that there is lack of recycling service providers for scrapped optical fibres and glass rod in Hong Kong, the Group has not 

been able to undertake any recycling of scrapped optical fibres and glass rod in Hong Kong. However, we will devote effort to 

formulating recycling plans that are in line with the environment benefits.

Note 2:	 The Group has not been able to find out any qualified local wood recycling service providers so far and will continue to identify 

the capable recycling service providers so as to ensure proper treatment of the recycled wood.

Note 3:	 The quantity of paper consumed in Futong Thailand Factory increased from 11.90 tonnes in FY2023 to 24.16 tonnes in FY2024.
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The Group strives to reduce and recycle waste, through the adoption of different measures during daily 
operations. The Group has developed a number of measures to properly control the generation of waste at 
source, including but not limited to:

•	 Conducting regular staff environmental education and promotion, and encouraging reusing and 
recycling;

•	 Standardising the collection of scraps generated from production processes and passing them to 
relevant companies for recycling and processing into raw materials, achieving waste recycling; and

•	 Sorting, recycling and reusing waste generated by each department and factory according to the 
relevant waste management system of the Group in order to reduce demand for disposal.

The Group has implemented the following measures to minimise consumption of paper during its 
operations:

•	 Employees are required to use double-sided copying or printing;

•	 Dissemination of documents, general business notices, and data transmissions through the online 
system is encouraged to minimise copying of documents;

•	 Waste paper generated from the operation of the Group will be centrally collected and recycled by the 
administrative department and offices, while the use of paper is under regular supervision; and

•	 Posters are attached on show windows, and electronic pamphlets about the Group are delivered to 
relevant personnel and customers, rather than delivering paper pamphlets for publicity and promotion 
purposes, so as to reduce paper waste.
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A2.	 Use of Resources
The Group incorporates resource efficiency and eco-friendly measures into the Group’s operations, and is 
committed to optimising the use of resources in all of its business and production operations.

We are committed to improving the efficient use of resources so as to reduce our carbon footprint. The 
entire operations involve consumption of fuel, electricity, and water. We closely monitor and evaluate 
the amounts of electricity and water consumed by collecting monthly consumption data. We carry out 
investigations for any abnormal or excessive consumption to find out the reason and look for rectification 
measures. We will continue to identify opportunities to consume less during our operations in the future.

Resource Consumption
The Group reduces energy consumption and exhaust emissions, and improves the sustainability of 
productions and operations, the Group continues to implement management rules and regulations with 
respect to energy conservation and emission reduction.

We evaluate the energy consumption of equipment before purchase, and avoid the use of equipment 
with low energy efficiency. We monitor the energy consumption of equipment after installation and 
commissioning operation, and request suppliers to adjust the equipment if the requirements of energy 
consumption are not satisfied; unsatisfying equipment will be returned as well. Furthermore, we renovate 
the equipment with large energy consumption, low efficiency, obsolescence and backwardness used at 
our plant for energy-saving purposes, such as installing a variable frequency controller to replace the fixed 
frequency controller at our production plant, as well as reducing electricity consumption. We have also 
formulated the operating procedures for production facilities, as well as regular maintenance policies, so 
that all environmental facilities operate in good conditions during the production process and energy will be 
conserved.

In addition to selecting and managing equipment, the Group formulated conservation management 
requirements for daily energy and resource consumption by our employees during production processes. 
For example:

•	 Electrical facilities at the production sites such as fans should be turned off if not in use;

•	 The lighting systems at our production plant are replaced from traditional light bulbs with LED lights or 
low- power bulbs;

•	 All department heads have to regulate the use of lighting power in the office area by ensuring all lights 
and air-conditioners are turned off after all employees leave the office;

•	 Computers have to be turned off if they are not in use for a long time; and

•	 Street lighting in the production plant shall be set based on seasonal changes.
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The energy, water and packaging materials consumption of the Group during the year ended 31 December 
2024 and 31 December 2023 are as follows:

(a)	 Energy
The Group’s operations involve different types of energy use, including non-renewable energy sources 
such as diesel and gasoline. At the same time, it would also purchase electricity from the third party 
to support the operation of network systems and other equipment and systems. To reduce the 
impact of daily operations on the environment, the Group has formulated relevant internal policies 
and measures such as “Regulations for Boiler Operation and Management” to achieve the goals of 
electricity saving and efficient resource consumption, as well as supervising the implementation of 
energy relevant policies and measures.

Energy Amount used Intensity of energy usage
2024 2023 2024 2023

     

Purchased electricity 4,821,742 kWh 6,471,110 kWh 5.7900 kWh 
per km of fibre

7.7674 kWh 
per km of fibre

Diesel 30,632 litres 27,140 litres 0.036769 litres 
per km of fibre

0.032577 litres 
per km of fibre

Lead-free gasoline 18,326 litres 18,717 litres 0.018455 litres 
per km of fibre

0.224670 litres 
per km of fibre

As a result of closing the production line in Transtech for several months in FY2024, the purchased 
electricity decreased from 2,333,088 kWh in FY2023 to 749,662 kWh in FY2024.

(b)	 Water
The Group’s water consumption mainly comes from the groundwater in the plants and tap water for 
domestic use in the staff dormitories. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s water consumption 
was 21,121 m3, showing a slightly decrease from the previous year.

Water Consumption Amount used Intensity of water usage
2024 2023 2024 2023

     

Purchased water 26,994 m3 21,121 m3 0.032402 m3 
per km of fibre 

0.025352 m3 
per km of fibre 
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(c)	 Use of Packaging Materials
The Group consumed 5.51 tonnes (2023: 22.19 tonnes) of optical fibre spools, 0.00 tonnes (2023: 9.16 
tonnes) of cardboard boxes and 550.00 tonnes (2023: 595.00 tonnes) of wooden planks for the use of 
packaging materials in FY2024.

The use of biodegradable and recyclable packaging materials has demonstrated our commitment 
to minimising unnecessary packaging materials. We have actively cooperated with customers and 
recyclers regarding the recycling and treatment of packaging materials such as cardboard boxes 
and optical fibre trays. During the Reporting Period, we recycled 0.00 tonnes (FY2023: 0.00 tonnes) 
of optical fibre trays (note: the trays were too broken for recycling) and 0.00 tonnes (FY2023: 1.27 
tonnes) of paper boxes. We also consume papers in our office for our clerical work. To mitigate the 
environmental impacts of material consumptions, we implement the following practices in office and 
site projects:

Since Transtech and Futong Thailand factory did not purchase any cardboard boxes in FY2024, there 
was nil recycling rate.

•	 We purchase reusable products such as refillable pens and rechargeable batteries.

•	 We promote digitalization on clerical works by avoid faxes and unnecessary printing and 
photocopying to reduce the paper consumption.

•	 We avoid the use of materials that may lead to severe pollution or harmful impact on the 
Environment.

Resource Conservation
The Group emphasises the importance of maintaining sustainable development of the environment in its 
daily operation. The Group has adopted the following energy and water conservation measures in offices 
and plants:

Energy Conservation:

•	 To fully utilise natural lighting during the day time

•	 To switch off unnecessary lighting and idle electronic equipment

•	 To set electronic equipment such as computers, photocopier and air purifier, to energy-saving mode

•	 To set the air-conditioning temperature within a range of 23-25ºC in order to save energy

•	 To install highly energy-efficient electronic equipment and consider its energy labels during the 
procurement process

•	 To carry out regular maintenance and cleaning solar panels to maximise power generation efficiency
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Water Conservation:

•	 To examine the faucets and water dispensers for leakages on a regular basis

•	 To put up water-saving signs in the lavatories to remind employees to conserve water

•	 To educate and promote employees to use faucets with water conservation label at home

A3.	 The Environment and Natural Resources
The Group pursues the best practice with the environment and focuses on its impact on the environment 
and natural resources from its business operation. In addition to complying with environmental related 
regulations to appropriately protect the natural environment, the Group has integrated the concept of 
environmental protection into its internal management and daily operational activities and is committed to 
achieving environmental sustainability.

(i)	 Plant Afforestation
Apart from optimising productions and operations, the Group also makes an effort to promote 
greenery of production plant. Through greening of plant areas, the Group purifies the air within the 
plant premises, lowers the noise level, and enhances its image. In addition, our employees can enjoy a 
good working environment, and therefore improving their enthusiasm at workplaces.

(ii)	 Noise Control
Our manufacturing process did not make much noise to the surrounding areas and we normally 
adhere to the regular production working at daytime and seldom have operation at night-time and any 
time on general holidays (including Sunday). Hence, our production complied with noise emissions 
standards.

(iii)	 Bio-diversity
We have no plan for factory expansion currently which poses threat to natural habitat and bio-
diversity. Our factories in Hong Kong and Thailand were well developed in the industrial clusters 
where we can reduce our negative impact to the environment and avoid bio-diversity damage. Also, 
we continuously invest in environmentally friendly manufacturing technologies and products in our 
existing manufacturing plants and the additional new plant in Thailand with an aim of conserving 
natural environment.

(iv)	 Sewage Management
In case of occurrence of sewage discharge, we would report it immediately and deploy applicable 
treatment to minimize contaminants before discharge. Although we do not generate significant 
sewage in our manufacturing operations, we still take the initiatives to comply with relevant laws and 
regulations by actively monitoring and preventing the possibility of generating sewage.

A4.	 Climate Change
The Group awares the climate change is increasing and recognises the importance of identifying and mitigating 
significant climate related issues, pays close attention to the potential impact of climate change on the Group’s 
business and operations, and is committed to managing the potential climate-related risks which may impact 
the Group’s business activities. According to the reporting framework developed by the Taskforce on Climate-
Related Financial Disclosures, climate-related risks are divided into physical and transition risks. The Group has 
established a risk management policy to identify and mitigate climate-related risks.
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Physical Risks
The increased frequency and severity of extreme weather events, such as typhoons, storms, heavy rains 
and extreme cold or heat, will pose immediate and long-term physical risks to the Group’s business. These 
events could threaten the personal safety of our employees and damage the power grid or communication 
infrastructure, resulting in reduced capacity and productivity, or exposing the Group to the risk of non-
performance and delayed performance, which will have a direct negative impact on the Group’s revenue.

To minimise potential risks and hazards, the Group has taken countermeasures, including flexible work 
arrangements and precautionary measures in severe or extreme weather conditions. We will explore 
contingency plans to further avoid damage to our facilities due to extreme weather events, in a bid to 
improve business stability.

Transition Risks
In line with the global vision of carbon neutrality, the Group expects changes in regulations, technologies 
and market patterns as a result of climate change, including the tightening of national policies and listing 
rules and the derivatives of environment-related taxes.

Stricter environmental laws and regulations may expose companies to higher claims and litigation risks, 
which may require additional compliance costs and impact the Group’s reputation.

In response to policy and legal risks as well as reputational risks, the Group continuously monitors any changes 
in laws or regulations and global trends in climate change to avoid increased costs, fines for noncompliance or 
reputational risks due to slow responses. In addition, the Group has been taking comprehensive measures to 
protect the environment, including measures aimed at reducing greenhouse gas emissions and setting targets 
to gradually reduce our energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions in the future.

Opportunities
On the other hand, climate change may bring opportunities to the Group. As climate change may lead to 
changes in preferences for sources of energies, it is a favourable opportunity for the Group to commit as an 
environmentally friendly energy user. Following this trend, the Group may consider to replace the existing 
fossil fuel powered vehicle by electric vehicle.

B.	 SOCIAL
B1.	 Employment

People Oriented
Adhering to the people-oriented values, the Group is committed to building a working environment that 
respects the rights and interests of our employees, is full of opportunities and fair competition, and provides 
solid support for the growth and development of our employees. To this end, we strictly comply with the labour 
and employment related laws and regulations applicable to our country and place of operation, including the 
“Labour Law of Thailand”, and the “Employment Ordinance” of Hong Kong. In order to regulate the management 
of staff recruitment and dismissal, promotion, remuneration and benefits, working hours, holidays and equal 
opportunities, we have developed a series of rules and regulations. These rules and regulations ensure that 
employees enjoy reasonable rights and benefits at work and create a fair and just working environment.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with employment-related laws 
and regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group, including but not limited to the “Labour 
Law of Thailand” and the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group has 
established relevant personnel management policies to protect the welfare of employees and to enable 
employees to actively integrate personal pursuits into the long-term development of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 157 employees (2023: 174 employees) in both Hong Kong 
and Thailand, all of them were full time employees.
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The information of our employees was as follows:

By Gender
Number as at 
31 December 

2024
2024

Percentage

Number as at 
31 December 

2023
2023

Percentage
     

Male 84 54% 95 45%
Female 73 46% 79 55%     

157 100% 174 100%
     

By Age
Number as at 
31 December 

2024
2024

Percentage

Number as at 
31 December 

2023
2023

Percentage
     

Aged below 30 50 32% 48 28%
Aged 30–50 101 64% 119 68%
Aged over 50 6 4% 7 4%     

157 100% 174 100%
     

By Employment Type
Number as at 
31 December 

2024
2024

Percentage

Number as at 
31 December 

2023
2023

Percentage
     

Full time 157 100% 174 100%
Part time 0 0% 0 0%     

157 100% 174 100%
     

By Geographical Area
Number as at 
31 December 

2024
2024

Percentage

Number as at 
31 December 

2023
2023

Percentage
     

Hong Kong 18 11% 35 20%
Thailand 139 89% 139 80%     

157 100% 174 100.0%
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Remuneration and Benefits
We believe that offering market-competitive remuneration and benefits is the best way to recognise 
the contribution of our employees and to retain them for the long term. Therefore, we have formulated 
a comprehensive Remuneration Management Plan to provide transparency in the calculation of staff 
remuneration and benefits as well as the incentive mechanism. Employee remuneration consists of basic 
salary, seniority pay, grade pay, performance pay and year-end bonus. Employees’ contribution and 
capability are assessed through annual appraisals, and employees with outstanding performance are given 
promotion opportunities and bonuses, which will encourage them to enhance their productivity.

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal
The Group actively hires talents from different regions and different cultural backgrounds and qualifications 
to join the Group so as to form a diverse workforce and enhance its overall competitiveness. For vacancies, 
the Group prioritises internal recommendation. Employees can attain job transfer and promotion through 
the inhouse competition system, preference will be given when he or she meets the requirements (such 
as professional level, work performance, attitude and experience, etc.) of the vacancies. To recruit talents 
externally, we adhere to the principle of fair appointment and meritocracy.

To enhance morale and work enthusiasm, the Group continues to offer incentives and job promotions to 
encourage and inspire our employees to have personal development, which will also create benefits for 
the Group. The Group evaluates our employees based on various aspects, including virtue, cooperation, 
obedience to leadership, enterprising spirit, professional knowledge, work efficiency, learning ability and 
work quality, and determines employees’ salary based on the “Employee Ranking Assessment Table” to 
incentivize our employees. In addition, we have also developed an internal “Assessment Scoring Table” to 
conduct monthly assessment and grant bonuses according to the assessment results. In order to optimise 
the allocation of human resources within the Group and to provide more opportunities and platforms for 
employees’ career development so as to meet the Group’s needs of sustainable development, the Group 
has established a succession planning and arranged tailor-made trainings and leadership position trainings 
for key training targets.
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In addition, the Group had a total turnover rate of 29.30% (2023: 16.67%) during the Reporting Period, 
including 19.11% (2023: 9.20%) of male and 10.19% (2023: 7.47%) of female. The detailed turnover numbers 
and percentage are as follow:

By Gender
Employee turnover rate No. of Staff Turnover Rate

2024 2023 2024 2023
     

Male 30 16 19.1% 9.2%
Female 16 13 10.2% 7.5%

By Age Group
Employee turnover rate No. of Staff Turnover Rate

2024 2023 2024 2023
     

Aged below 30 15 6 9.55% 3.35%
Aged 30–50 28 21 17.83% 12.07%
Aged over 50 3 2 1.91% 1.15%

By Geographical Area
Employee turnover rate No. of Staff Turnover Rate

2024 2023 2024 2023
     

Hong Kong 15 13 9.55% 7.47%
Thailand 31 16 19.75% 9.20%

The Group complies with laws and regulations related to employment and labour standards, both in Hong 
Kong and Thailand. The Group understands that violating relevant laws and regulations will bring civil and/or 
criminal consequences to the Group, as well as negative effects to the operations and corporate reputation.

To the best of our Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not aware of any significant non-compliance case in 
this regard during the Reporting Period.

Equal Opportunity
The Group strictly complies with national and local government regulations by adopting a fair, just and open 
recruitment process, and developing relevant policies to eliminate discrimination in the recruitment process 
to ensure no discrimination regardless of race, gender, colour, age, family background, ethnic tradition, 
religion, physical fitness and nationality, thus allowing them to enjoy fair treatment in every aspect including 
recruitment, salary, training and promotion, and to attract professionals with diverse backgrounds to join 
the Group.

Communication with Employees
The Group also values the importance of two-way communication with employees. The Group has set up 
a labour union to facilitate internal communications, so that we can quickly understand and resolve our 
employees’ issues at work whenever they arise. The management has set up a mailbox and e-mail to the 
general manager to broaden the channels of exchanges, so that they can learn about our employees’ views 
by different means and continue to improve the working environment for them.

Work-life Balance
The Group also values the balance between work and life of employees, and their sense of belonging at 
work. Therefore, we have organised literary contests, basketball teams, football teams and dance teams, 
tug of war and chess competitions to enrich their lives, as well as further enhance their sense of happiness 
and belonging.
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B2.	 Health and Safety
The Group puts the health and safety of our employees to be our top priority. The existing occupational 
health and safety management systems of the two major subsidiaries of the Group have all complied with 
the industry-related laws and regulations of Hong Kong and Thailand, which demonstrates that the Group 
attaches great importance to the health and safety of its employees and is committed to creating a healthy, 
safe and comfortable working environment for employees.

During the Year, the Company was not aware of any serious violations of relevant health and safety laws 
and regulations that caused material impact on the Group, including but not limited to “Labour Law of 
Thailand” and Health Ordinance”(Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Safe Production Management Mechanism
The Group identifies and evaluates the potential hazards affecting the health and safety of employees and 
customers in the Group’s operation, products and services, prioritises the level of risk, and implements 
effective control and management, which provides the basis for establishing target indicators and 
preventing hazards. In response to identified potential hazards, the Group provides trainings and drills to 
improve the ability of all staff to respond to emergencies in production and other experimental processes. 
As a result, all staff facing emergency conditions or accidents can quickly and effectively take emergency 
measures to reduce the impact of various types of dangers, such as personal injuries, property damages 
and adverse effects on the environment.
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Indicators of Occupational
Health and Safety Unit

2024
Total number

2023
Total number

    

Numbers of work-related death person 0 0
Numbers of work-related injuries person 5 0
Numbers of working days lost due to injuries day 67 0

The number of work-related injuries were 3 and 2 in Futong Thailand and Transtech factory respectively in 
FY2024. The number of working days lost due to injuries were 3 days and 64 days in Futong Thailand and 
Transtech factory respectively in FY2024.

For the interest of employees, we provide relevant treatment and subsidies to them according to the 
Regulations on Work-Related Injury Insurances of the relevant laws and regulations. The Group has also 
provided additional gratuity to the family and has strengthened the safety management of our factory.

During the Year, there were no confirmed non-compliance incidents or grievances in relation to health and 
safety of the employees that have a significant impact on us.

The Group adopts the following measures for safety production to ensure the safety and health of 
employees during the production:

•	 Operate the specialised machines and equipment by the licensed specialist operator;

•	 Employees must comply with all safety and sanitation regulations and wear protective supplies as 
required and report to their superiors in case of unusual circumstances during the operation;

•	 Provide physical examinations to employees whenever necessary to ensure that their physical 
conditions meet position requirements; and

•	 Provide job safety trainings for employees when their position changes due to different skills required 
in each post, so as to ensure that they have enough safety knowledge upon reassignments.

Storage of Chemicals
The Group attaches great importance to the storage and use of chemicals and we continue to implement 
management systems for storage and collection of chemicals to protect the safety of our employees. 
Hazardous goods must be stored in a separate warehouse and managed by designated personnel. To 
prevent accidents, employees are prohibited from using fire in warehouses storing hazardous goods, lamps 
and electrical appliances have to be explosion-proof, and hazard labels should be posted in noticeable 
places of the warehouse as a warning to our employees. The fire exits of warehouses shall remain 
unblocked at all times and the fire-fighting equipment shall be in good condition so that our employees can 
take emergency measures in time if an accident occurs.
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B3.	 Development and Training
The Group focuses on the construction of internal management system of training and development 
diversity. Through induction training, on-the-job training and job-transfer training, etc., the Group satisfies 
the different needs of job duties at all levels. The Group enhances its sustainable development, and 
enhances employees’ personal growth and development at the same time.

Training Management
The Group has established training-related policies to regulate the training management of employees. The 
management will regularly review the effectiveness of different training plans to help improve the efficiency 
of the Group’s training system. The Group also encourages employees to participate in external trainings on 
their own; and subsidises employees to obtain professional qualifications related to the Group’s business at 
the same time. Moreover, we also established a corporate training file as a basis for management to review 
the effectiveness of training plans.

To improve employees’ knowledge, skills and corporate competitiveness, the Group formulates a training 
program each year based on the business development needs of the Group and the training needs of 
various departments. The training courses cover induction training, on-the-job training, job-transfer training 
and special job training for our employees. The content of our training includes a code of conduct, business 
profile, safety education, environmental protection, product knowledge, on-site management systems, 
professional ethics and skills training. The Group bears the training fees which include training or tuition 
fees, fees for books and materials, data fees, travel expenses, registration fees, technical fees and other 
expenses.

Assessments will be conducted on our employees upon completion of the training to understand the 
training results and constantly improve our training system.

The Group has adopted a mentorship programme for our trainees, enabling such trainees to master the 
work or production skills and related safety knowledge within an agreed period of time. On-the-job training 
is provided after the trainees have taken up their positions to continuously improve their knowledge, skills 
and management standards as well as their knowledge about operating conditions and safety requirements 
of the Group. During the Year, the participation rate of our training was 100%.
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B4.	 Labour Standards
Prevention of Child Labour and Forced Labour
The Group strictly prohibits the employment of any child labour and forced labour. The Group clearly 
stipulates in recruitment guidelines that only employees reaching legal working age can be recruited, and 
that new recruits should provide true and accurate personal data when they join the Group. Recruiters 
rigorously review the entry data including identity cards to confirm the legal working age requirement is 
met. The Group will investigate in and deal with any incidents of illegal employment or forced labour in 
accordance with its relevant policies. At the same time, the Group also avoids the appointment of such 
vendors and contractors who are known to have engaged in child labour or forced labour in their operations 
to provide products and services.

In practice, the Group strictly prohibits child labour and forced labour. During staff recruitment, the identity 
of potential employees would be strictly reviewed to ensure that they are qualified to work. The Group 
prohibits any form of forced labour or servitude and ensured that all employees are working on a voluntary 
basis.

During the reporting period, the Group had no violations involving child labor or forced labor.

B5.	 Supply Chain Management
The Group believes that strict screening and management of suppliers is an important prerequisite to 
producing and providing premier products for customers. Meanwhile, we recognise the importance of 
supply chain management to reduce indirect environmental and social risks. Therefore, we have established 
a system related to supply chain management to enhance the level of supply chain management.

Supply Chain Management Structure
In addition to customers’ designated suppliers, we mainly select suppliers through tenders and continue to 
implement corresponding procedures to reduce the operating risks caused by unqualified suppliers.

The Group’s procurement department collects monthly information on quality and delivers updates on each 
kind of raw materials and other necessary production supplies, and arranges production, technology, quality 
and purchasing and other departments to make integrated appraisals on the major suppliers annually, 
so as to eliminate those unqualified suppliers, follow up on rectifications and update or replace qualified 
suppliers list. When raw materials and other necessary production supplies are brought to the production 
plant, suppliers are required to provide quality certification documents, while our inspectors will inspect the 
raw materials purchased from the suppliers and pass those qualified ones to our warehouse for storage. 
Unqualified products will be returned to the relevant suppliers.

Suppliers are encouraged to provide environmentally friendly alternatives for consideration. In addition, 
suppliers with management certification such as ISO 9001 Quality Management System certification, 
OHSAS 18001 Occupational Health and Safety Management system certification, ISO 14001 Environmental 
Management System certification and any related license and certification are more preferred.

Ratio of suppliers by category
2024 2023

   

Water, electricity and other materials 75% 53%
Raw materials 25% 47%

During the Reporting Period, the Group had approximately a total of 138 (2023: 78) major suppliers, all of 
which were from Mainland China, Hong Kong SAR, Japan, Thailand, India and Malaysia. Among them, 35 
(2023: 37) were suppliers of raw materials and 103 (2023: 41) were suppliers of water, electricity and other 
materials.
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The Group is also concerned about the integrity of suppliers and partners. We will only select suppliers and 
partners who have a good business record in the past and have no serious violations of relevant laws and 
regulations or violations of business ethics. The Group has zero tolerance for bribery and corruption, and 
suppliers and partners are strictly prohibited from obtaining procurement contracts or partnerships through 
any form of transfer of benefits.

Environmental and Social Risk Management of the Supply Chain
The Group requires that products and raw materials used by the suppliers shall meet environmental 
protection requirements set out in national and local laws and regulations as well as industry standards, and 
encourages the usage of clean production process and equipment. For enterprises or suppliers who are 
likely to cause or have caused serious harm or major environmental pollution, the Group will terminate the 
supply contract

Apart from environmental risks, the Group also takes measures to examine whether its major suppliers or 
contractors are in compliance with relevant laws and regulations and other required standards for health, 
safety, forced labour and child labour, and examine the suppliers’ awareness in the above aspects.

Fair Tendering
The Group invites at least two suppliers to public tender for all types of raw materials or production supplies. 
Apart from regulating the principle of local procurement, when selecting the suppliers, we also consider 
major factors including quality, environment, safety, pricing, supply capacity and stability, as well as whether 
they are directly or indirectly related to the management of the Group. We usually review the requisite 
approvals, business licences, certificates of the bidders and information on quality and technical standards 
first before such suppliers are invited to bidding. Suppliers are required to fill in the questionnaire for us to 
understand their background. We conduct on-site inspections, sample checks and tests before the bidding 
to ensure their authenticity when necessary.

B6.	 Product Responsibility
The Group recognises the importance of product quality and corporate reputation, we actively monitor the 
quality of our products and services through internal controls and is committed to producing high quality 
products that meet industry standards. We also maintain communication with our customers to ensure we 
understand and meet customers’ needs and expectations, while understanding customers satisfaction, so 
as to continuously improve our products and services.

The Group promises not to use any pirated products, and has implemented control rights on the computer 
system to protect the stability of the system to minimize the risk of viruses. The Group attaches great 
importance to the protection of consumer information and privacy, and has managed customers’ personal 
information in accordance with strict standards. No collected customer data would be used for promotional 
purposes without the consent of customers. The Group regularly reviews the security of the information 
storage system, protecting the security and stability of the information system through firewalls and 
management of Internet access to reduce the risk of personal information disclosure.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not recall any products sold or shipped due to safety and health 
reasons. The Group will strive to maintain the quality of its products and provide customers with high-quality 
products. The Group complies with laws and regulations relevant to product responsibility, and understands 
that violating relevant laws and regulations will bring civil and/or criminal consequences to the Group, as 
well as negatively affect operations and corporate reputation. During the Reporting Period, the Group did 
not violate any laws and regulations related to product responsibility.



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

55Annual Report 2024

Quality Control
The Group has obtained quality control system for our products. To enhance production efficiency and 
minimise product quality issues, we provide reliable support for the inspection of our production supplies 
and products.

The Group adopts standardised quality management systems in all production processes, finished product 
inspections and services. We have set up a professional quality management team for quality management 
and product control to ensure all relevant standards are met. In addition, we require necessary anti-dust, 
anti-moisture, anti-fire and anti-explosion measures and other protective measures to be taken to ensure 
the quality and safety of our supplies. During the Year, the Group did not receive any cases in which the 
products sold or shipped had to be recalled for safety and health reasons.

Customer Service and Privacy
Maximising customer satisfaction is the basic criterion for the Group’s customer service. We provide 
warranty service for all products, and repair or replace damages and malfunction caused by product quality 
issues for free. The Group is convinced that customer feedback is the key to our continued progress. In this 
regard, we have set up a special department to collect views and complaints from our customers and strive 
to listen to each of them. We reply to any complaint within 4 hours of receiving such complaint and provide 
a solution within 24 hours, including technical engineers to be dispatched to sites for resolving issues. 
During the Year, the Group did not receive any material complaints about its products and services.

All products and business information shall be subject to strict scrutiny before being disclosed, and any 
misleading behaviour or false information is prohibited in the promotion, marketing and exhibition process.

The Group manages customer information under strict confidentiality to avoid data privacy leakage. 
Customer data shall be kept by a dedicated person and the use, storage and destruction of customer’s 
documents and other items shall be performed by such dedicated person. At the same time, as part of the 
Group’s resources, customer information and materials will not be sold, shared or disclosed by any person 
for any purpose. Each employee should protect customer information and materials in accordance with the 
regulations of the Company and relevant laws and regulations.

Intellectual Property Rights
Over the course of our productions and operations, the Group has established relevant intellectual property 
management codes in accordance with national and provincial intellectual property laws and regulations, 
setting out the duties of employees to protect the Group’s patent rights, trade secrets and trademarks. 
In addition, we continue to raise awareness of intellectual property rights protection in accordance with 
internal regulations. In case of infringement disputes, we will promptly handle and resolve them.
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B7.	 Anti-corruption
The Group continuously update the relevant policies and internal management system for preventing 
corruption and bribery in accordance with the above laws and regulations, thereby strengthening our 
employees’ awareness of anti-corruption and regulating their behaviour. We also signed an integrity self-
discipline commitment declaration with the Group’s management or above level. In addition, we enhanced 
the management’s and employees’ integrity awareness by conducting the training related to anti-corruption. 
During this year, all of the Group’s directors and employees have received the training in anti-corruption and 
understood the Group’s integrity and self-discipline management system.

The Group believes that a corporate culture of high integrity is the key to its continuous success. Therefore, 
the Group recognises the importance of anti-corruption work and system establishment. Meanwhile, the 
Group is committed to creating a fair and honest, open and transparent, standardised and efficient internal 
management atmosphere. Our employees, in particular our management, are required to regard honesty, 
trustworthiness and integrity as the most basic code of conduct. During the Year, the Group was not aware 
of any material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations related to bribery, extortion, fraud and 
money laundering, which would have a significant impact on the Group, National People’s Congress on 
Amending the Bidding Law of the People’s Republic China and the Metrology. No concluded legal cases 
regarding corrupt practices were brought against the Group or its employees during the Year. The Group 
also provided anti-corruption training to the directors and employees on how to properly address possible 
conflicts of interest and acceptance of benefits at work.

We has also established a whistleblowing system to establish and maintain a clean and transparent 
culture of the Group. The whistleblowing system allows all employees and independent third parties 
(including customers, suppliers, etc.) who have contact with employees to report anonymously to the Audit 
Committee, including negligence, corruption, bribery and other misconduct. The Audit Committee will 
process the reports promptly, fairly and confidentially. On the other hand, the whistleblowing system also 
ensures that whistleblowers will not be treated unfairly because of reports, the whistleblowers will not face 
unfair dismissal, unwarranted disciplinary actions, etc.

The Group also attaches importance to the potential bribery and corruption in the procurement and relevant 
rules and regulations for management are established. Please refer to the section headed “Fair Tendering” 
in Aspect B5 of this ESG Report.

B8.	 Community Investment
The Group believes that an enterprise should share the responsibility of contributing to the society. 
Therefore, while pursuing its own development, the Group also devotes itself to social charity and public 
welfare, assisting people in need and giving back to the society and people. By focusing on contributing to 
community welfare and working with charitable organisations, the Group organises activities to fulfill social 
responsibilities.

Social Responsibility Education
The Group hopes to foster a sense of social responsibility among its employees. Therefore, we have 
been encouraging employees to participate in charity activities during their work and personal time to 
make greater contributions to the community. We have also arranged for employees to participate in 
environmental protection activities, donation for educational developments and social services in past 
years. We believe that through directly participating in activities that contribute to the community, our staff 
could build up positive value and be a socially responsible citizen. However, there were no charity events 
during the Year due to our bad performance in the year 2024.
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APPENDIX
Key Performance Indicators Summary
Environmental Key Performance Indicators

2024 2023 Unit
    

Air Pollutants
Nitrogen dioxides 93.40 92.61 kg
Sulphur oxides 0.72 0.72 Kg
Respirable suspended particulates 8.77 8.70 kg

GHG Emissions
Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions 123.76 123.88 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
Scope 2 — Energy indirect GHG emissions 2,263.63 3,101.64 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
Total GHG emissions 2,387.39 3,225.52 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
GHG intensity (by number of employees) 15.21 18.75 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent

Waste
Total non-hazardous waste generation 109.41 106.87 tonnes
Non-hazardous waste intensity 
  (by number of employees)

0.71 0.61 tonnes/employee

Energy Consumption
Diesel 27,482 27,140 Litres
Petrol 18,326 18,717 Litres
Electricity 4,072,080 6,471,110 kWh

Water Consumption
Total water consumption 26,994.00 21,121.00 m3

Water consumption intensity 
  (by number of employees)

171.93 121.39 m3/employee

Packaging Material
Total packaging material 5.51 31.36 tonnes

Wood
Total wood consumption 5.50 5.95 tonnes
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Social Key Performance Indicators

2024 2023
    

By gender Male 84 95
Female 73 79

By age group Below 30 years old 50 48
30–40 years old 93 74
41–50 years old 8 45
Above 50 years old 6 7

By employment type Full time 157 174
Part time 0 0

By geographical region Hong Kong 18 35
Thailand 139 139

By employment category General employee 136 129
Middle management 14 31
Director & Senior management 7 14    

Total 157 174
    

Employee Turnover Rate

By gender Male 30 30
Female 16 11

By age group Below 30 years old 15 14
30–40 years old 16 15
41–50 years old 12 11
Above 50 years old 3 1

By geographical region Hong Kong 15 17
Thailand 31 24    

Total 46 41
    

Occupational

Health and Safety Work-related injuries 5 0
Lost days due to work-related injuries 67 0
Work-related fatalities for the year ended 31 December 0 0    
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2024 2023
    

Training

No. of trainees by Gender Male 105 178
Female 85 107    

No. of training courses Hong Kong 7 7
Thailand 2 2    

Average training hours 5.3 4.5    

By employment category General employee 117 263
Middle management 2 22
Director & senior management 0 0    

Supplier

By Nature Raw material 35 37
Water, electricity and other services 103 41    

Total 138 78
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CONTEXT INDEX OF THE “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE 
REPORTING GUIDE” OF THE HKEX

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Description Chapters/Statements Page

Environmental
Aspect A1: Emissions
General Disclosure
Information on:
(a)	 the policies; and
(b)	 compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the 

issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, 
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

GHG Emission, Annual Emissions 
Reduction Contribution, 
Wastes Management, 

Pollutants Management

37

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. GHG Emission, 
Pollutants Management

37-38

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) in total and, where appropriate, 
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

GHG Emission 38 39

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity 
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

Wastes Management 40

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

Wastes Management 40

KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved. Annual Emissions 
Reduction Contribution, 
Pollutants Management

40-41

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, 
reduction initiatives and results achieved.

Wastes Management 40-41

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
General Disclosure
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials. 
Note: Resources may be used in production, storage, transportation, buildings, electronic 
equipment, etc.

Green Office and Business 
Resource Consumption

42

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) consumption (kWh in 
’000s) by type in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per 
facility).

Resource Consumption 43

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, 
per facility).

Resource Consumption 43

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved. Resource Conservation 43-44
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for 

purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.
Resource Conservation 43-45

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, where 
appropriate, with reference to per unit produced.

The environment and 
natural resources

44



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

61Annual Report 2024

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Description Chapters/Statements Page

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
General Disclosure
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and natural resources.

Protection to Environment, 
Annual Emissions 

Reduction Contribution

45

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and 
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

Protection to Environment, 
Annual Emissions 

Reduction Contribution

45

Aspect A4: Climate Change
General Disclosure
Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have 
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

Climate change 45

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and 
those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

Responses to Climate Change 45-46

Aspect B1: Employment

General Disclosure
Information on:
(a)	 the policies; and
(b)	 compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer 

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest 
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare

Employment of our Talents 46

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical 
region.

Employment 46-47

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Employment 47-49
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
General Disclosure
Information on:
(a)	 the policies; and
(b)	 compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the 

issuer relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from 
occupational hazards.

Safeguard the Safety and 
Health of the Employees

50

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Health and Safety 51
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety 51
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they 

are implemented and monitored.
Health and Safety 51

Aspect B3: Development and Training
General Disclosure
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. 
Description of training activities.

Promote personal Development 52

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. 
senior management, middle-level management).

Development and training 52

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee 
category.

Development and training 52
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Description Chapters/Statements Page

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
General Disclosure
Information on:
(a)	 the policies; and
(b)	 compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer 

relating to preventing child and forced labour.	

Equality of our Talents 53

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and 
forced labour.

Labour standard 53

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Labour standard 53
Operating Practices
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
General Disclosure
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.

Management of 
Supply Chains

53

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply chain management 53
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers 

where the practices are being implemented, how they are implemented and 
monitored.

Supply chain management 53-54

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along 
the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

Supply chain management 53-54

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products 
and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and 
monitored.

Supply chain management 53-54

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
General Disclosure
Information on:
(a)	 the policies; and
(b)	 compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer 

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products 
and services provided and methods of redress.

Product Quality and Assurance 54-55

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and 
health reasons.

Product responsibility 55

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they 
are dealt with.

Product responsibility 55

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual 
property rights.

Product responsibility 55

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Product responsibility 55
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are 

implemented and monitored.
Product responsibility 55
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Description Chapters/Statements Page

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
General Disclosure
Information on:
(a)	 the policies; and
(b)	 compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer 

relating to prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Creating a Community 
of Integrity

56

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against 
the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of 
the cases.

Anti-corruption 56

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how 
they are implemented and monitored.

Anti-corruption 56

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. Anti-corruption 56
Community
Aspect B8: Community Investment
General Disclosure
Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the issuer 
operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

Mutual Development 
with the Community

56

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour 
needs, health, culture, sport).

Community investment 56

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area (e.g. money or time). Community investment 56
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. He Xingfu (何興富), aged 65, is an executive Director and the chief executive officer of the Group. Mr. He joined 
the Group in April 2003 as a director and general manager of Transtech and is responsible for managing the daily 
operations and business development of our Group. Meanwhile, Mr. He resigned as general manager of Transtech on 
1 November 2023. Mr. He was the president of Futong Group (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd. (“Futong Group (Hong Kong)”) and 
a director of Hong Kong Futong Optical Fibre Co., Ltd. (“Futong HK”), and he has resigned from such positions in these 
two companies upon Listing.

Mr. He obtained the qualification of Senior Engineer from Science and Technology Bureau of Guangdong Province (廣
東省科學技術幹部局) in April 1994 and a bachelor degree in electronic material science from University of Electronic 
Science and Technology of China (電子科技大學) (formally known as Chengdu Institute of Radio Engineering (成都電訊
工程學院）) in July 1982. Mr. He has over 40 years of experience in the industry of optical fibre and optical fibre cables. 
Prior to joining Futong China Group in 2001, Mr. He was engineer of the research department of the No. 46 Research 
Institute of China Electronics Technology Group Corporation (中國電子科技集團公司第四十六研究所) (formally known 
as No. 46 Research Institute of Ministry of Machine Building and Electronics Industry (機械電子工業部第46研究所)) from 
August 1982 to April 1989, where he mainly engaged in the research on the production technologies for optical fibres 
preforms and the drawing technologies of optical fibres. From January 1989 to June 1997, Mr. He was the head (manager) 
of the optical fibre factory of Shenzhen Guangtong Development Company Limited (深圳光通發展有限公司) and mainly 
managed the day-to-day operations and production technology of the optical fibre factory. From July 1997 to December 
1998, Mr. He was the person in charge of technology for the Shenzhen SDGI Optical Fibre Co. Ltd (深圳市特發信息光纖
有限公司). Shenzhen SDGI Optical Fibre Co. Ltd is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of optical fibres. 
Subsequently from February 1999 to March 2001, Mr. He was the Area Sales Manager of Fiber Optic Product Line, 
Cables and Components Sector of Alcatel China Company Limited Shanghai Representative Office (阿爾卡特中國有限
公司上海代表處) and was mainly responsible for overseeing the sales operations of optical fibre products in the PRC. 
Alcatel China Company Limited Shanghai Representative Office is principally engaged in providing optics, voice and data 
communication systems for enterprises to mobile terminals. Mr. He also acted as the director of the FTTH Council Asia 
Pacific from May 2012 to May 2016, and as the Vice President and director of the same organisation from May 2015 to 
May 2016 subsequently.

Mr. He was appointed as executive director on 23 June 2017, Chairman of Remuneration Committee and Chairman of 
the Board as effective from 1 July 2023.
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Mr. Xu Jinjie (徐進捷), 34 years old, is an executive director. He has joined the Group in October 2020 and served as 
the acting general manager of its subsidiary, Futong Group Communication Technology (Thailand) Co., Ltd., in charge of 
the operations and business development in Thailand and other countries of the Association of Southeast Asia Nation 
(ASEAN). Mr. Xu got the bachelor degree in electronic information engineering from Ningbo Institute of Technology, 
Zhejiang University in June, 2012. He has over 10 years` experience in international marketing, customer development, 
overseas project investment and operation. In December 2017, he was awarded the “Outstanding Professional Awards 
at 30th Anniversary” of Futong Group Co., Ltd., (the “Funtong China”). Futong China and its subsidiaries are collectively 
referred to as “Futong China Group”.

From May 2013 to March 2016, Mr. Xu served as the director assistant and sales manager of the European market in 
the international affairs department of Futong China, assisting the president to carry out investment survey, project 
operation and marketing. From April 2016 to March 2019, Mr. Xu successively served as the secretary of the board 
of directors of Futong China Group, and the assistant to the director of Chairman`s (Hangzhou) Office, assisting the 
chairman in international affairs, communication and other appointed works. From April 2019 to September 2020, 
he served as the deputy general manager of Futong Group Import & Export Co., Ltd. and Jiaxing Futong International 
Technology Co., Ltd. responsible for market promotion and project operation in ASEAN countries. Mr. Xu has resigned 
all posts in Futong China Group before October 2022.

Mr. Xu was appointed as an executive Director and a member of Nomination Committee of the Board on 1 October 
2022.

Mr. Yin Zhou (尹洲), aged 35, is an executive Director. Mr. Yin joined our Group in October 2022 and is responsible 
for the development of new markets and trade affair of our Group. Mr. Yin graduated from Zhejiang University of 
Technology and obtained a bachelor degree of English Language in June 2011. Mr. Yin has 10 years of experience in 
enterprise management, market development and sales operations. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Yin took up the posts 
of the customer manager, claim manager and recover manager in the whole process of insurance business in China 
Export & Credit Insurance Corporation from July 2011 to September 2016. Between October 2016 and September 2022, 
Mr. Yin worked as the assistant to the president of the department of international business as well as the secretary to 
the director of Futong China. Mr. Yin has resigned all posts in Futong China Group before October 2022.

Mr. Yin was appointed and resigned as an executive Director and a member of Remuneration Committee of the Board 
on 1 October 2022 and 1 November 2024 respectively.
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Ms. Sheng Lingfei (盛凌飛), 37 years old, is an executive Director. Ms. Sheng is responsible for the business 
development and office management of our Group. Ms. Sheng graduated from Jilin International Studies University and 
obtained a bachelor degree of English Language in June 2011.

Ms. Sheng has over 10 years of experience in enterprise management in Futong China. She took up the post of the 
business secretary of international department in Futong China to be responsible for project management from 
September 2011 to April 2015. Between May 2015 and August 2017, Ms. Sheng was the assistant to the manager 
mainly responsible for the management of a hotel in Luxembourg. From January 2022 onwards, Ms. Sheng worked as 
the secretary of the board of directors of Futong China to assist the directors in daily operation and coordination with 
professional parties.

Since Ms. Sheng still holds other positions in Futong China which are also business entities owned by the controlling 
shareholder of our Group; therefore, Ms. Sheng will abstain from all decisions relating to the transactions with Futong 
China to avoid interest conflict during her tenure in the Company.

Save as disclosed above and as at the date of this report, the Company is not aware of other information in relation 
to the appointment of Ms. Sheng as executive Director, which is required to be disclosed pursuant to any of the 
requirements under Rule 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited nor is there any other matter in relation to the appointment that needs to be brought to the attention 
of the shareholders of the Company.

Ms. Sheng is appointed as an executive Director and a member of Remuneration Committee of the Board on 1 
December 2024.
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Mr. Ren Guodong (任國棟 ), aged 49, Mr. Ren joined the Group in October 2003 and is a director and general manager 
of Transtech. He is responsible for the operating management of Transtech. Mr. Ren obtained a bachelor’s degree in 
high voltage and equipment from Harbin University of Science and Technology (哈爾濱理工大學 ) in July 1998, and a 
master’s degree in business administration from the Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (中南財經政法大學 ) in 
December 2010. Mr. Ren has over 20 years of experience of enterprise management in optical communication product 
manufacturing technical innovation, quality control and cost control. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ren has been the 
head of production department of Futong Cable Hangzhou Company Limited (杭州富通電線電纜有限公司 ).

Mr. Ren was appointed as an executive director on 1 July 2021 and General Manager of Transtech on 1 November 2023.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Leong Chew Kuan (梁昭坤), aged 47, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 23 June 2017.

Mr. Leong obtained his bachelor’s degree in business administration from University of Technology, Sydney in July 
2000 in Australia. He has been a member of Malaysian Institute of Accountants since August 2003 and a member of 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since May 2014. Mr. Leong was admitted as a certified practising 
accountant of CPA Australia in February 2000, and was awarded a fellow membership in the CPA Australia in February 
2014.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Leong has approximately 16 years of experiences in accounting, finance and enterprises 
management. From June 2004 to May 2006, Mr. Leong was employed by KPMG (Malaysia), a firm of certified public 
accountants, serving first as audit senior and then senior associate, in which he was responsible for performing audit 
works. Mr. Leong was then employed by KPMG (Hong Kong) in November 2006, and was a manager responsible for 
auditing and advisory works when leaving in January 2010. From May 2011 to February 2014, Mr. Leong worked as a 
senior manager in the risk advisory services department of BDO Financial Services Limited, a firm of certified public 
accountants in Hong Kong. He joined Clifford Investment Company Limited as financial controller from March 2014. 
Mr. Leong was appointed as an executive director of Clifford Modern Living Holdings Limited, a listed company on the 
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3686), in December 2015, and he resigned as an executive director in 
December 2018. From December 2018 to February 2020, Mr. Leong worked as Group Financial Controller in Chairman’s 
office, at Glorious Sun Holdings Limited. From February 2020 to November 2022, Mr. Leong has been working as Group 
Finance Director at Tricor Group.
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Mr. Lau Siu Hang (劉少恒), aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 23 June 2017.

Mr. Lau obtained his bachelor’s degree in business administration from University of Western Sydney in April 2001 in 
Australia, and his master’s degree in Chinese culture from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in January 2013. Mr. 
Lau had served the Hong Kong government for approximately 30 years with his last position as Principal Immigration 
Officer prior to his retirement in 2010. During his tenure, he was responsible for handling human resources matters and 
was once seconded to Security Bureau to assume the position of Assistant Secretary for Security. Mr. Lau has been 
working as a principal consultant in Wise and Talent Consultancy providing training relation to recruitment interviews, 
risk management and services relation to financial and assets management since May 2013. Mr. Lau has been a 
financial consultant of Prudential Hong Kong Limited and Prudential General Insurance Hong Kong Limited, and he 
became an insurance agent of The Prudential Assurance Company Limited in September 2010. He is currently a Chinese 
Certified Financial Planner of the Chinese Institute of Certified Financial Planner SAR. Mr. Lau served as an independent 
non-executive director of China Financial Leasing Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 2312) for the period from June 2015 to September 2018. Mr. Lau has taken up the position of 
Director of the Evershine Consultancy Limited since August 2023.

Mr. Li Wei (李煒), aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 23 June 2017.

Mr. Li had his tertiary education in Beijing, Kiel and Perth where he had studied German, international trade theory 
and consumer behaviours. Mr. Li had working experience across a number of industries including education, trading, 
investment, and broadcasting industry. From 2002 to present, he has been serving as an independent non-executive 
director of VST Holdings Limited, a listed company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 856). 
Also, he has become the independent non-executive directors of two listed companies on the Main Board of the 
Stock Exchange, namely Qianhai Health Holdings Limited (formerly known as Hang Fat Ginseng Holdings Company 
Limited) (stock code: 911) and Yantai North Audre Juice Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2218) on 17 May 2016 and 25 May 2016, 
respectively. Furthermore, he acted as a current affairs commenter in radio and television programmes and a columnist 
across different media.

Mr. Li was a director of the below companies incorporated in Hong Kong, which were dissolved by way of striking off or 
deregistration as these companies ceased to carry on business.

Name of company
Place of
incorporation

Nature of business
before dissolution

Date of 
dissolution

Method of 
dissolution

     

China Equity International Limited Hong Kong Trading of mineral products 8 July 2005 Deregistration
Link Success International  

Development Limited
Hong Kong Trading of mineral products 21 September 2001 Striking Off

Uni-Link International Limited Hong Kong Trading of mineral products 4 October 2013 Deregistration
Winform Development Limited Hong Kong Trading of imported equipment 30 July 2004 Deregistration
World Grace International Limited Hong Kong Trading of imported equipment 27 June 2008 Deregistration

Save as disclosed in this report, each of the Directors does not have any interest or short position in the Shares and 
underlying Shares (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors has any other directorships in listed companies during the three 
years immediately prior to the date of this report and there are no other matters in respect of each of the Directors that 
is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and there is no other material matter relating to 
the Directors that need to be brought to the attention of the shareholders.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Ho Cheuk Wai (何焯偉), aged 63, joined the Group and was appointed as our chief financial officer and company 
secretary in October 2016. Mr. Ho is responsible for overseeing the financial and accounting operations and carrying out 
company secretarial functions of the Group. He graduated with a degree of master of science in business information 
technology from Middlesex University in January 2003 and a degree of master of business administration from the 
University of Wales, Bangor in cooperation with the Manchester Business School (now known as the Bangor University) 
in July 1997, both of which were distance learning programmes. He has been admitted as an associate of the Hong 
Kong Society of Accountants since December 1994 and was admitted an associate of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom since January 1995 and a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants of the United Kingdom since January 2000.

Mr. Ho was an independent non-executive director of Tai Kam Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM (stock 
code: 8321) from September 2016 to May 2018. Prior to joining the Group, he served as the financial controller and the 
company secretary of K. H. Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock 
code: 1557), from August 2014 and September 2015, respectively, which he resigned from such positions with effect 
from October 2016. From May 2013 to January 2014, he served as the financial controller and the company secretary of 
Ngai Shun Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1246). From May 
2012 to May 2013, he also acted as the financial controller and the company secretary of South West Eco Development 
Limited, a company currently known as C&D International Investment Group Limited listed on the Main Board of the 
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1908). In addition, Mr. Ho served as the financial controller in other companies in Hong 
Kong, namely Cetec Limited, China Water Company Limited, Chung Fu Property Group Company Limited, Mission Hills 
Group Limited, and CBI Investment Limited during the period from January 2010 to April 2012, from September 2008 to 
January 2010, from January 1999 to March 2008, from April 1995 to November 1998, and from July 1990 to March 1995, 
respectively.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION AND SHARE OFFER
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability on 6 September 
2016.

The Shares have been listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange by way of the Global Offering on 20 July 2017 and 
transferred from GEM to Main Board on 5 November 2020.

In connection with the Listing, the companies comprising the Group underwent a reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”). 
Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Company became the holding company of the other members of the Group on 7 
October 2016. Further details of the Reorganisation are set out in the section headed “History and Development” of the 
Prospectus dated 30 June 2017 (the “Prospectus”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 
33 to the consolidated financial statements. The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale of optical 
fibre in Hong Kong and optical fibre cable, optical cable cores and related products in Thailand.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the Group’s financial position at that date are set 
out in the consolidated financial statements of the Group on pages 88 to 90 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Details of which, are set out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of revenue attributed to the Group’s largest and 
the five largest customers accounted for approximately 27% and 66% (2023: 31% and 67%) of the total revenue of 
the Group,respectively. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s purchase from the largest and the five 
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 29% and 52% (2023: 56% and 79%) of the total purchases of the Group, 
respectively. At no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 did the Directors, their close associates or any 
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued 
share capital) have any interest in the Group’s major customers or suppliers as disclosed above.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 
24 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to the shareholders, calculated in 
accordance with the Company Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands 
amounted to approximately HK$349.5 million (2023: approximately HK$354.7 million).

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report were as 
follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. He Xingfu (Chairman & 
  Chief Executive Officer)	 (appointed as director on 6 September 2016, redesignated
	   as executive director on 23 June 2017)
Mr. Ren Guodong	 (appointed as executive director on 1 July 2021)
Mr. Xu Jinjie	 (appointed as executive director on 1 October 2022)
Ms. Sheng Lingfei	 (appointed an executive director on 1 December 2024)
Mr. Yin Zhou	 (appointed and resigned as executive director on 1 October 2022 
	   and 1 November 2024 respectively)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leong Chew Kuan	 (appointed on 23 June 2017)
Mr. Lau Siu Hang	 (appointed on 23 June 2017)
Mr. Li Wei	 (appointed on 23 June 2017)

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”), at each annual general meeting, 
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to 
but not less than one- third) shall retire from office by rotation and that every Director shall be subject to retirement by 
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Xu Jinjie, Ms. Sheng Lingfei and Mr. Leong Chew Kuan retire from office and, being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from each of the independent non-executive Directors 
and as at the date of this report still considers them to be independent.



REPORT OF DIRECTORS

72 Transtech Optelecom Science Holdings Limited

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT
(a)	 Executive Directors

Past contract period Current contract period
   

He Xingfu 23/6/2017–30/6/2024 1/7/2024–30/6/2025
Xu Jinjie 1/10/2022–30/6/2024 1/12/2024–30/6/2025
Ms. Sheng Lingfei* – 1/12/2024–30/6/2025
Yin Zhou# 1/10/2022–30/6/2024 1/7/2024–31/10/2024
Ren Guodong 1/7/2021–30/6/2024 1/7/2024–30/6/2025

*	 appointed on 1 December 2024
#	 resigned on 31 October 2024

All of the above contracts may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice served by either party on the 
other. The term of service of a Director is subject to retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

(b)	 Independent Non-executive Directors

Past contract period Current contract period
   

Leong Chew Kuan 23/6/2017–30/6/2024 1/7/2024–30/6/2025
Lau Siu Hang 23/6/2017–30/6/2024 1/7/2024–30/6/2025
Li Wei 23/6/2017–30/6/2024 1/7/2024–30/6/2025

All of the above contracts may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice served by either party on the 
other. The term of service of a Director is subject to the provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set 
out in the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to have a service contract with the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of 
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five years is set out in the 
section “Five-Year Financial Summary” of this report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS 
AND CAPITAL ASSETS
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any significant investment of equity interest in other company. Except 
for those included in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus, the Group had no 
definite future plans for material investments and capital assets.
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USE OF PROCEEDS AND COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH ACTUAL 
BUSINESS PROGRESS
Details of the use of proceeds and business objectives with actual progress are set out in the section headed 
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are 
set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS
Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group at 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 23 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED
The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 31 December 2024.

RESERVES
Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company adopted a dividend policy considering the payment of dividends, to allow shareholders of the Company 
to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth.

The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

•	 the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

•	 retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of the members of the Group;

•	 the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

•	 the Group’s liquidity position;

•	 general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and other internal or external factors that 
may have an impact on the business or financial performance and position of the Company; and

•	 other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The payment of dividend is also subject to compliance with applicable laws and regulations including the laws of 
Cayman Islands and the Company’s Bye-laws. The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy from time to time 
and there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
The Directors confirm that during the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company did not redeem its listed securities, 
nor did the Company or any of its subsidiaries purchase, cancel or sell any of such listed securities.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
The emolument of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration Committee by reference to the benchmarking of 
the market. The Company also looks into individual Director’s competence, duties, responsibilities, performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in Note 9 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set in section “Biographical Details of 
Directors and Senior Management” of this report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in “Disclosure of Directors’ and Substantial Shareholders’ interests” section of this report, none of 
the Directors or an entity connected with any of them had any material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any 
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the business of the Group to which the Company or 
any of its subsidiaries, parent company or subsidiaries of the parent company was a party and subsisting at any time 
during or at the end of the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, no contract of significance had been entered into between the Company, or any of its 
subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders of the Company or any of their subsidiaries.

DIRECTOR’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES
Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 was the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executive of 
the Company (including their spouses or children under 18 years of age) to have any right to subscribe for securities of 
the Company or any of its specified undertakings as defined in the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation (Chapter 
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the 
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING 
BUSINESS
During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report, save as disclosed in the section headed 
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus, none of the Directors, and the controlling shareholders 
of the Company and their respective close associates has any interest in a business which competes or is likely to 
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group or have any other conflicts of interest with the 
Group.



REPORT OF DIRECTORS

75Annual Report 2024

COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS
Each of the controlling shareholders of the Group (the “Controlling Shareholders”), namely Hong Kong Futong Optical 
Fiber Company Limited (“Futong HK”), Hangzhou Futong Optical Communication Investments Co., Ltd. (“Futong 
Optical Communication”), Futong Group Co., Ltd. (“Futong China”), Hangzhou Futong Investments Co., Ltd. (“Futong 
Investments”) and Mr. Wang Jianyi (“Mr. Wang”) entered into a deed of non-competition dated 13 October 2016 as 
amended by a supplemental deed dated 23 June 2017 (“Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the Company (for 
itself and each of its subsidiaries), pursuant to which each of the Controlling Shareholders has, unconditionally and 
irrevocably, jointly and severally, undertaken to the Company (for itself and on behalf of other members of the Group) 
that save and except certain exceptional circumstances, he/it will not, and will procure that his/its close associates 
(except members of the Group) will not, from the Listing Date, directly or indirectly, either on his/its own account or 
in conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm or company (except through any member of the Group), among 
other things, carry on, participate, invest or be interested or engaged in or acquire or hold (in each case whether as a 
shareholder, director, partner, agent, employee, or otherwise, and whether for profit, reward or otherwise) any of the 
following business (“Controlling Shareholders’ Restricted Business”):

(i)	 sales or manufacturing of optical fibres, optical fibre cables, optical cable cores and other similar products 
(excluding optical fibre preforms) (the “Relevant Optical Communication Products”) in Hong Kong and the ASEAN; 
and

(ii)	 any other business in Hong Kong and the ASEAN from time to time conducted, engaged in or invested in by any 
member of the Group or which the Company has otherwise published an announcement on the website of the 
Stock Exchange stating its intention to conduct, engage in or invest in.

In addition, each of the Controlling Shareholders has irrevocably and unconditionally, jointly and severally, provided the 
following undertakings to the Company under the Deed of Non-Competition:

(i)	 with respect to any proposed sales of the Relevant Optical Communication Products to (a) authorised distributors 
or trading agents (which include all companies which on-sell or trade the Relevant Optical Communication 
Products of the Controlling Shareholders) or (b) manufacturers of the Relevant Optical Communication Products, 
(together, the “Restricted Customers”), the Controlling Shareholder shall include a clause in the relevant contract 
to be entered into between the Controlling Shareholder and such Restricted Customer(s), pursuant to which 
such Restricted Customer(s) shall not on-sell the Relevant Optical Communication Products purchased from the 
Controlling Shareholder, with or without further processing, to other customers in Hong Kong and ASEAN; and

(ii)	 if prior to the sale of the Relevant Optical Communication Products to the Restricted Customer(s), the Controlling 
Shareholder has been informed by the Restricted Customer(s) or is aware that such Restricted Customer(s) 
intend(s) to on-sell the Relevant Optical Communication Products purchased from the Controlling Shareholder, 
with or without further processing, to other customers in Hong Kong and/or ASEAN, the Controlling Shareholder 
shall not engage in such sale and shall refer such new business opportunity to the Group.

Further, each of the Controlling Shareholders has irrevocably and unconditionally, jointly and severally, undertaken 
to the Company (for itself and on behalf of other members of the Group) that he/it will procure any new business 
investment or other business opportunity relating to the Controlling Shareholders’ Restricted Business identified by or 
offered or made available to him/it and/or his/its close associates to be first referred to the Company.



REPORT OF DIRECTORS

76 Transtech Optelecom Science Holdings Limited

For further details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to the section headed “Relationship with Controlling 
Shareholders — Non-Competition Undertaking” in the Prospectus.

The following corporate governance measures have been adopted by the Group to monitor the compliance of the Deed 
of Non-competition for the year ended 31 December 2024:

(i)	 Futong China has issued an internal memorandum to the relevant sales and marketing teams of Futong China 
Group to remind them of the restrictions in undertaking the Controlling Shareholders’ Restricted Business, 
pursuant to which (among other things) each of the members of the Futong China Group shall not directly or 
indirectly sell or manufacture the relevant products or otherwise conduct the relevant business in Hong Kong or 
the ASEAN in breach of the non-competition undertakings given by the Controlling Shareholders under the Deed 
of Non-Competition;

(ii)	 Futong China has appointed a designated senior officer to monitor the compliance by the Futong Group with such 
undertaking under the Deed of Non-Competition from time to time after the Listing, whose duties and powers will 
include, among other things, reviewing all relevant sales records of the members of the Futong China Group;

(iii)	 each of the Controlling Shareholders has provided all information requested by the Company, including but not 
limited to the following:

(a)	 a full list of customers of the Controlling Shareholder for the Relevant Optical Communication Products;

(b)	 details of the relevant sales of Relevant Optical Communication Products to the Controlling Shareholder’s 
customers; and

(c)	 samples of contracts entered into between the Controlling Shareholder and the Restricted Customers.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has provided a declaration to the Company of his/its compliance with the Deed of 
Non-Competition from the period from the year ended 31 December 2024 up to the date of this report. The Controlling 
Shareholders also stated in the declaration that they are willing to abide by the Deed of Non-Competition in the future. 
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the relevant information and the status of compliance and 
confirmed that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have been complied by each of the Controlling 
Shareholders from the period from the year ended 31 December 2024 to the date of this report.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
(a)	 Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and/or Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying 

Shares and Debentures of the Company or any Associated Corporation
As the period from the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report, none of the Directors and 
chief executives of the Company had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures 
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO which were 
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the 
SFO (including interests and short positions which were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the 
SFO) or which were required to be entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of 
the SFO, or otherwise have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for 
Security Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”).



REPORT OF DIRECTORS

77Annual Report 2024

(b)	 Substantial Shareholders’ Interest in Shares or Underlying Shares of the Company
So far as is known to the Directors, as the period from the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of 
this report, the following persons, other than a Director or a chief executive of the Company, had interest or short 
position in the shares and/or the underlying shares which were required to be disclosed to the Company and the 
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept 
under section 336 of the SFO:

Name of shareholder Nature of interest
Number of 

shares held(1)

Approximate 
shareholding 

percentage
    

Mr. Wang Jianyi (“Mr. Wang”)(2) Interest in a controlled  
corporation

195,000,000 (L) 75%

Futong Investments(3) Interest in a controlled  
corporation

195,000,000 (L) 75%

Futong China(4) Interest in a controlled  
corporation

195,000,000 (L) 75%

Hangzhou Futong Optical Communication  
Investments Co., Ltd.  
(“Futong Optical Communication”)(5)

Interest in a controlled  
corporation

195,000,000 (L) 75%

Futong HK Beneficial interest 195,000,000 (L) 75%

Notes:

(1)	 The letter “L” denotes a person’s “long position” in such shares.

(2)	 Our Company is directly owned as to 75% by Futong HK. Futong HK is owned as to 100% by Futong Optical Communication which is in turn 
owned as to 100% by Futong China. Futong China is owned as to 80% by Futong Investments. As Futong Investments is owned as to 100% 
by Mr. Wang, Mr. Wang is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares of the Company held by Futong HK under the SFO.

(3)	 Our Company is directly owned as to 75% by Futong HK. Futong HK is owned as to 100% by Futong Optical Communication which is in 
turn owned as to 100% by Futong China. As Futong China is owned as to 80% by Futong Investments, Futong Investments is deemed to be 
interested in the same number of shares of the Company held by Futong HK under the SFO.

(4)	 Our Company is directly owned as to 75% by Futong HK. Futong HK is owned as to 100% by Futong Optical Communication which is in turn 
owned as to 100% by Futong China. Therefore, Futong China is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares of the Company 
held by Futong HK under the SFO.

(5)	 Our Company is directly owned as to 75% by Futong HK. By virtue of Futong Optical Communication’s 100% shareholding in Futong HK, 
Futong Optical Communication is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares of the Company held by Futong HK under the 
SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as the period from the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report, 
the Directors were not aware of any other persons or companies who had any interest or short position in the 
shares or underlying shares of the Company that was required to be recorded in the register of interests required 
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed under the 
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO. None of the substantial shareholders have pledged all or part 
of their interest in the Company’s Shares for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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DIVIDENDS
The Board did not recommend a payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (year ended 31 
December 2023: Nil).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company has no share option scheme.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
The Directors confirm that during the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024, the Company did not redeem 
its listed securities, nor did the Company or any of its subsidiaries purchase, cancel or sell any of such listed securities.

COMPLIANCE OF CODE OF CONDUCT FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES 
TRANSACTIONS
The Group has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than 
the required standard of dealings set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules. The Company has confirmed, having made 
specific enquiry of the Directors, that all the Directors have complied with the Code of Conduct from the Listing Date up 
to the date of this report.

COMPETING INTERESTS
As at 31 December 2024, save as disclosed in “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” section of the Prospectus, 
none of the Directors, and the controlling shareholders of the Company and their respective close associates has any 
interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group 
or have any other conflicts of interest with the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the 
date of this report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float during the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the laws of Cayman Islands or the Articles which would 
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Subject to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, every director is entitled under the Articles to be indemnified and 
secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages 
and expenses may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of 
their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as he or she shall incur or sustain 
through their own fraud or dishonesty.

The Company has maintained a directors and officers liability insurance for the year ended 31 December 2024. To the 
extent as permitted by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, a directors’ liability insurance is currently in place to 
protect the Directors against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought against the Directors.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with its key stakeholders, including its 
employees, customers and suppliers, to meet its immediate and long-term business goals. During the year ended 31 
December 2024, there were no material and significant disputes between the Group and its employees, customers and 
suppliers.

The Group recognises employees as one of its valuable assets and strictly complies with the labour laws and regulations 
and reviews regularly the existing staff benefits for improvement. Apart from the reasonable remuneration packages, 
the Group also offers other employee benefits. The Group provides good quality services to its customers and keeps 
a database for direct communications with recurring customers for developing a long-term trusted relationship. The 
Group also maintains effective communication and develops a long-term business relationship with the suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
The environmental, social and governance report, which forms part of this report, is set out on pages 32 to 63 of this 
report.

DONATION
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not make any donation for charitable purposes (2023: Nil).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The next annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company will be held on 3 June 2025, the notice of which shall be sent 
to the shareholders of the Company in accordance with the Articles, the Listing Rules and other applicable laws and 
regulations.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
In order to ascertain entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the Company 
will be closed from 29 May 2025 to 3 June 2025, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be 
registered.

Shareholders are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share 
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) 
Limited, 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 28 May 2025.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Group has entered into a credit and loan agreement on 27 February 2025 which Futong Thailand may borrow from 
a bank with a credit limit of THB300 million (equivalent to approximately HK$68,190,000). Futong Thailand has pledged a 
piece of land in Rayong, Thailand with an area of 58,149 square meters and the building thereon. The agreement period 
is valid for 30 years ending on 26 February 2054.

Apart from as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has taken 
place subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the date of approval of this report.

AUDITOR
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 24 November 2023. RSM 
Hong Kong has been appointed as the new auditor of the Company with effect from 24 November 2023 to fill the casual 
vacancy occasioned by the resignation of Deloitte.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 have been audited by RSM Hong Kong and 
shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offered themselves for re-appointment.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company has established an Audit Committee with the written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing 
Rules. The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Leong Chew Kuan, who 
has the appropriate accounting and financial related management expertise and serves as the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee, Mr. Lau Siu Hang and Mr. Li Wei.

The primary functions of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial information, overseeing 
the financial reporting system, risk management, internal control systems and relationship with external auditor, and 
arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise concerns under the protection of confidentiality about 
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Group’s audited consolidated annual results for the year ended 31 December 2024 have been reviewed by the 
Audit Committee pursuant to the relevant provisions contained in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) and 
was of the opinion that the preparation of such statements complied with the applicable accounting standards and that 
adequate disclosure has been made in respect thereof.

On behalf of the Board
Transtech Optelecom Science Holdings Limited

Mr. He Xingfu Mr. Ren Guodong
Executive Director Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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To the Shareholders of Transtech Optelecom Science Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Transtech Optelecom Science Holdings Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 88 to 150, which comprise the consolidated statement 
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. The key audit matters we identified are:

1.	 Impairment assessment of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables

2.	 Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and prepayments
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter  

1.	 Impairment assessment of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net carrying 
amounts of trade receivables, deposits and other 
receivables were amounting to approximately 
HK$35,048,000 and HK$62,104,000 respectively. 
These two balances in total accounted for 25% of 
the Group’s total assets.

As disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial 
statements,  the management of the Group 
estimates the amount of lifetime expected credit 
losses (“ECL”) of the trade receivables individually. 
Estimated loss rates are based on the historical 
observed default rates over the expected life of the 
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking 
information.

In developing the loss allowance of deposits and 
other receivables, management assesses whether 
the expected credit loss rates have increased 
significantly since their initial recognition, and apply 
a three-stage impairment model to calculate their 
ECL. The expected credit loss rates assessed are 
determined with consideration of the repayment 
history, default history, and external default data of 
the counterparty, which is then adjusted to reflect 
current and forward-looking information such as 
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the 
counterparty to settle the receivables.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment 
of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables 
included:

•	 Understanding and evaluating management’s 
processes and internal controls related to the 
assessment of ECL for trade receivables, deposits 
and other receivables, and assessing the inherent 
risk of material misstatement by considering the 
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of the 
inherent risk factors;

•	 Assessing the reasonableness of the assumptions 
used in the individual assessment performed by the 
management of the Group, on a sample basis, based 
on internal credit ratings, credit loss experience and 
customers’ repayment history that are reasonable 
and supportable and taking into consideration 
forward-looking information available without undue 
costs or effort, and evaluating whether the loss rates 
applied are appropriate;

•	 Examining the application of significant increase in 
credit risk and defaults for deposits and other 
receivables by checking to historical payment record 
and past due days of the assets as defined by the 
management;

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
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1.	 Impairment assessment of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables (Continued)

We identified impairment assessment of trade 
receivables, deposits and other receivables as a key 
audit matter due to the involvement of subjective 
judgement  and management  est imates  in 
evaluating the ECL of the Group’s trade receivables, 
deposits and other receivables at the end of the 
reporting period.

As disclosed in Note 28(c) to the consolidated 
financial statements, the ECL on trade receivables, 
deposits and other receivables as at 31 December 
2 0 2 4  w e r e  a m o u n t i n g  t o  a p p r o x i m a t e l y 
HK$136,809,000 and HK$95,339,000 respectively in 
aggregate.

•	 Evaluating the outcome of prior period assessment 
of ECL of trade receivables, deposits and other 
receivables to  assess the ef fect iveness of 
management’s estimation process;

•	 Challenging management’s basis and judgement in 
determining ECL on trade receivables, deposits and 
other receivables with the assistance of auditor’s 
valuation expert, including their identification of 
credit-impaired trade receivables, deposits and 
other receivables and the estimation of loss rates for 
debtors which are assessed for ECL individually; and

•	 Evaluating the reasonableness of the forward-
looking adjustments made to reflect current and 
forecast future economic condition against public 
available information.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter  

2.	 Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and prepayments

As at 31 December 2024, net carrying amounts 
of property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) and 
prepayments were amounted to approximately 
HK$225,965,000 and HK$3,579,000, respectively, 
and in total accounting for 58% of the Group’s total 
assets. The carrying amounts of the Group’s PPE 
and prepayments are written down to their 
recoverable amounts if in excess of their estimated 
recoverable amounts.

Management considers these assets or a group of 
these assets as separate identif iable cash-
generating unit (“CGU”) by business lines and 
monitors their financial performance for the 
existence of impairment indicators.

Due to the operating loss, temporary production 
suspension of the Group’s optical fibres CGU, and 
delay in the completion of the construction in 
progress for the new production line under the 
Group’s optical fibre cable cores and other related 
products CGU, management concluded there were 
ind icat ions  o f  impa i rment  and per formed 
impairment assessments on these assets as at 31 
December 2024 to determine the recoverable 
amounts of the CGUs.

The recoverable amounts of the assets are 
determined by value in use calculations using 
discounted cash f low projections based on 
management’s forecast, which involved using 
micro-economic assumptions such as future prices 
of finished goods and raw materials, market 
demand and discount rate as well as internal 
assumptions related to resume of production level, 
the future production capacity and volume and 
operating costs etc.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessments 
of PPE and prepayments included:

•	 Understanding and evaluating the accounting 
policies and the processes and the internal controls 
related to the impairment assessments on PPE and 
prepayments;

•	 Understanding and evaluat ing the scope of 
management’s impairment assessments on assets 
by considering the indications of impairment 
independently;

•	 Assessing the reasonableness of management’s 
identification of CGUs based on our knowledge of 
the business;

•	 Assessing the methodology used by management to 
determine the recoverable amounts of the CGUs in 
management’s impairment testing;

•	 Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and 
relevance of the input data to supporting evidence, 
such as approved budgets and considering the 
reasonableness of these budgets by comparing the 
budgets to the historical results and the market 
data;

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
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2.	 Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and prepayments (Continued)

Impairment losses on prepayments of approximately 
HK$13,079,000 was recorded during the year to reduce 
the carrying amount attributed to the Group’s optical 
fibres CGU to its recoverable amount.

The assessments of impairment involve significant 
estimation uncertainty, subjective assumptions and 
significant judgements by management. These 
estimates and judgements may be significantly affected 
by unanticipated changes in future markets and 
economic conditions, therefore, we considered this as 
a key audit matter.

Please refer to Notes 4, 5, 15 and 18 to the consolidated 
financial statements for the accounting policies, 
significant accounting judgements and estimates and 
the relevant disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements.

•	 Assessing the appropriateness of the cash flows 
projections used in the calculation of the recoverable 
amounts of the CGUs, challenging the reasonableness 
of management’s assumptions such as the future 
products prices, market demand, production plans and 
discount rate, etc. based on our knowledge of the 
business and industry by comparing the assumptions to 
historical results and published market and industry data 
and comparing the current year’s actual results with the 
prior year forecast, where applicable;

•	 Auditor’s valuation expert had been engaged to assist 
the review on the methodology of the recoverable 
amount calculations and discount rates; and

•	 Assessing whether appropriate impairment related 
disclosures are made in the consolidated financial 
statements.

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the information included 
in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial 
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for 
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Wong Tak Man, Stephen.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants

31 March 2025
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2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue 6 148,017 174,208
Cost of sales (148,292) (156,743)    

Gross (loss)/profit (275) 17,465
Other income 8 372 1,410
Other gains and losses 8 (7,634) (12,848)
Impairment losses on financial assets 11 (47,244) (17,754)
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and prepayments 11 (13,079) (28,197)
Selling and distribution expenses (3,518) (3,692)
Administrative expenses (18,361) (19,740)    

Loss from operations (89,739) (63,356)
Finance costs 10 (1,590) (1,891)    

Loss before tax 11 (91,329) (65,247)
Income tax (expense)/credit 12 (3,517) 1,025    

Loss for the year (94,846) (64,222)

Other comprehensive (expense)/income:
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operation (757) 1,667    

Total comprehensive expense for the year (95,603) (62,555)    

Loss per share
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) 14 (36.48) (24.70)
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2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 225,965 231,169
Deposits for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 18 3,881 10,301
Deposits and prepayments 18 30 6,504
Deferred tax assets 25 14,795 17,388    

244,671 265,362    

Current assets
Inventories 16 35,069 57,495
Trade receivables 17 35,048 42,554
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 18 62,480 135,776
Tax receivables – 1,430
Bank and cash balances 19 17,763 14,489    

150,360 251,744    

Current liabilities
Trade payables 20 10,253 15,941
Accruals and other payables 21 3,425 11,037
Contract liabilities 22 14 542
Bank borrowings 23 25,300 37,564
Tax payables 447 1,104    

39,439 66,188    

Net current assets 110,921 185,556    

Total assets less current liabilities 355,592 450,918    

Non-current liability
Provisions 26 833 556    

NET ASSETS 354,759 450,362
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2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Capital and reserves
Share capital 24 2,600 2,600
Reserves 352,159 447,762    

TOTAL EQUITY 354,759 450,362
    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 88 to 150 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 31 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. He Xingfu Mr. Ren Guodong
Executive Director Executive Director
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Share
capital

Share
premium

Other
reserve

Foreign
exchange

reserve

Retained
profits/

(accumulated
losses)

Total
equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note)

       

As at 1 January 2023 2,600 95,534 289,031 (21,916) 147,668 512,917       

Loss for the year – – – – (64,222) (64,222)
Other comprehensive income – – – 1,667 – 1,667       

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year – – – 1,667 (64,222) (62,555)       

As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 2,600 95,534 289,031 (20,249) 83,446 450,362       

Loss for the year – – – – (94,846) (94,846)
Other comprehensive expense – – – (757) – (757)       

Total comprehensive expense for the year – – – (757) (94,846) (95,603)       

As at 31 December 2024 2,600 95,534 289,031 (21,006) (11,400) 354,759
       

Note:	 Other reserve represents (i) the contribution made by Futong Group Co., Ltd. (“Futong China”, the parent company not forming part of Transtech 

Optelecom Science Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)) to the Group; (ii) the change in 

proportionate share of the carrying amount of the net assets of Transtech Optical Communication Company Limited (“Transtech”), a subsidiary of  

the Company upon change in ownership interest without gaining or losing control; and (iii) share capital and share premium of Transtech and 

Futong Group Communication Technology (Thailand) Co., Ltd. (“Futong Thailand”), a subsidiary of the Company.
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2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax (91,329) (65,247)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5,627 9,221
Finance costs 1,590 1,891
Bank Interest income (26) (72)
Provision/(reversal of provision) for long service payment 270 (200)
Allowance for inventories 5,490 2,623
Impairment losses on financial assets 47,244 17,754
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and prepayments 13,079 28,197   

Operating loss before working capital changes (18,055) (5,833)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 17,175 (344)
Decrease in trade receivables 13,911 25,509
Decrease/(increase) in deposits, prepayments and other receivables 20,802 (12,475)
Decrease in trade payables (5,919) (7,072)
(Decrease)/increase in accruals and other payables (7,657) 1,763
Decrease in contract liabilities (528) (3,579)   

Cash generated/(used in) from operations 19,729 (2,031)
Income tax refund/(paid) 63 (3,375)   

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 19,792 (5,406)   

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 26 72
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment – (10,301)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (151) (7,584)   

Net cash used in investing activities (125) (17,813)   
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2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Bank borrowings raised 56,383 87,872
Repayments of bank and other borrowings (68,404) (106,316)
Interest paid (1,590) (1,891)   

Net cash used in financing activities (13,611) (20,335)   

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 6,056 (43,554)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (2,782) (117)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY 14,489 58,160

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 17,763 14,489
   

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances 17,763 14,489
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1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman 
Islands under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 6 
September 2016. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are 
disclosed in the section headed “Corporate Information” in this annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 33 
to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Hong Kong Futong Optical Fibre Company Limited (“Futong HK”), 
a private company incorporated in Hong Kong, is the immediate holding company; Hangzhou Futong Investments 
Co., Ltd., a private company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), is the ultimate holding 
company and Mr. Wang Jianyi is the ultimate controlling party of the Company.

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRS Accounting 
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRS Accounting 
Standards comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards 
(“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure 
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and with the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards that are first effective or 
available for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 to the consolidated financial 
statements provides information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these 
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods 
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

3.	 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(a)	 Application of new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA for 
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2024 for 
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
Amendment to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (“HK Int 5”)

(Revised)
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification  

by the Borrower of a Term Loan that  
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
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3.	 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
(CONTINUED)
(a)	 Application of new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards (Continued)

Adoption of Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current” and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants” 
(collectively the “HKAS 1 Amendments”)
As a result of the adoption of the HKAS 1 Amendments, the Group changed its accounting policy for the 
classification of borrowings as below:

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at the end of the reporting period, the Group has a 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

This new policy did not result in a change in the classification of the Group’s borrowings.

Except for the above, other amendments and interpretation listed above did not have any material impact on the 
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.

(b)	 Revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective
Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of new 
standards and amendments to standards and interpretation, which are not effective for the year ended 31 
December 2024 and which have not been adopted in these financial statements. The Group has not early 
applied the following which may be relevant to the Group:

Effective for 
accounting periods 

beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 — Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 — Classification and Measurements 

of Financial Instruments
1 January 2026

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 1 January 2026
HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
Amendments to HK Int 5 — Presentation of Financial Statements — 

Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that  
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

1 January 2027

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of  
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

To be determined 
by the HKICPA

The directors of the Company are in the process of making an assessment of what the impacts of these 
new standards, amendments to standards and interpretation are expected to be in the period of initial 
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the 
consolidated financial statements.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, unless 
mentioned otherwise in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process 
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in 
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a)	 Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an 
entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when 
the Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that 
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights held 
by other parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise 
that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss of control represents the difference 
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in 
that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill 
and any accumulated translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(b)	 Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investments. The results of 
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend from these 
investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the 
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements 
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets including 
goodwill.

(c)	 Foreign currency translation
(i)	 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional 
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is 
the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(ii)	 Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency on initial recognition 
using the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign 
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses 
resulting from this translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date is 
the date on which the entity initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary 
items that are measured at fair value in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at 
the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any 
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain 
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain 
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(c)	 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii)	 Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all foreign operations (none of which has the currency of 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the Company’s presentation 
currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

—	 Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the 
closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

—	 Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period (unless this 
average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the 
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the exchange rates on 
the transaction dates); and

—	 All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of monetary items that form 
part of the net investment in foreign entities are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences 
are reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

(d)	 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment including buildings are held for use in the production or supply of goods, 
or for administrative purposes (other than freehold land and construction in progress as described below). 
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised 
in profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(d)	 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less 
their residual values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as 
follows:

Buildings	 5%
Leasehold improvements	 Shorter of 3 to 10 years or over the lease term
Machinery	 10%
Furniture and fixtures	 20%
Office equipment	 20%
Motor vehicles	 20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the 
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective 
basis.

Freehold land is not depreciated and is measure at cost, less subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and plant and equipment pending 
installation, and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the 
relevant assets are available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and condition necessary for them to 
be capable of operating in the manner intended by management).

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

(e)	 Leases
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the 
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group as a lessee
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of staff quarters, 
plant and office premises (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). Lease payments on short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(f)	 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, 
first-out method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour 
and an appropriate proportion of all production overhead expenditure. The costs of purchased inventory are 
determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale.

(g)	 Contract liabilities
A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays consideration before the Group recognises the 
related revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to 
receive consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding 
receivable would also be recognised.

When the contract includes a significant financing component, the contract balance includes interest 
accrued under the effective interest method.

(h)	 Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 
when the Group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair 
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in 
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognised in profit or loss.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(i)	 Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date 
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised 
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending 
on the classification of the financial assets.

Debt instruments
Debt instruments held by the Group are classified into amortised cost, if the instrument is held for the 
collection of contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of principal and interest. Interest 
income from the instrument is calculated using the effective interest method. Typically trade receivables, 
deposits and other receivables, bank and cash balances are classified in this category.

(j)	 Trade and other receivables
A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration. A right 
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of that 
consideration is due.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they 
contain significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the 
trade receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them 
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method less allowance for credit losses.

(k)	 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other 
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three 
months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL”).

(l)	 Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual 
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRS 
Accounting Standards. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets 
of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial 
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

(m)	 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds 
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of 
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are 
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility 
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no 
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a 
prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(m)	 Borrowings (Continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at the end of the reporting period, the Group has a 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on or before the end of the reporting period, are 
considered in classifying loan arrangement with covenants as current or non-current. Covenants that the 
Group is required to comply with after the reporting period do not affect the classification at the reporting 
date.

(n)	 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case 
they are stated at cost.

(o)	 Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

(p)	 Revenue and other income
Revenue is recognised when control over a product is transferred to the customer, at the amount of 
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected 
on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of 
any trade discounts.

Revenue from the sales of optical fibres, optical fibre cables, optical cable cores and other related products 
is recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods have been delivered to the 
customers’ specific location (delivery). Following delivery, the customer has full discretion over the manner 
of distribution and price to sell the goods, has the primary responsibility when on selling the goods and 
bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods. A receivable is recognised by the Group 
when the goods are delivered to the customers as this represents the point in time at which the right to 
consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is required before payment is due.

Revenue from the sales of scrap products is recognised when control of the scrap products has transferred 
to the customer, being at the point the scrap products are delivered to the customer.

Service fee income is recognised when the services are rendered.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method. For financial assets 
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross 
carrying amount of the asset. For credit impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the 
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(q)	 Employee benefits

(i)	 Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue to 
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a 
result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii)	 Pension obligations
The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are available to all 
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage 
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents 
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

For long service payment (“LSP”) obligation, the Group accounts for the employer mandatory provident 
fund (“MPF”) contributions expected to be offsetted as a deemed employee contribution towards the 
LSP obligation in term of HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a) and it is measured on a net basis. The estimated 
amount of future benefit is determined after deducting the negative service cost arising from the 
accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have been vested with employees, 
which are deemed to be contributions from the relevant employees.

(iii)	 Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when the Group can no longer 
withdraw the offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises restructuring costs and involves 
the payment of termination benefits.

(r)	 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 
sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific 
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the 
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the 
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable 
to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made 
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding 
after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for 
calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(s)	 Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised 
in profit or loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and 
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred 
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such 
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of transaction does not give rise to equal 
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is 
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of 
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled 
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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(t)	 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date for indications of 
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for 
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those 
from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and 
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the CGU.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows of the asset/CGU. Present values are 
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset/CGU whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for CGUs are allocated first against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the 
other assets of the CGU. Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates 
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the impairment unless the relevant asset is 
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
increase.

(u)	 Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets that are measured at amortised cost 
including trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, and bank and cash balances. The amount of ECL 
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument.

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or when the Group applies the 
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies the 
simplified approach in calculating ECL. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in 
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date. The ECL on 
trade receivables are assessed on individual basis.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not 
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represent the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to 
result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting 
date.
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(u)	 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting 
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. 
In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is 
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available 
without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the future prospects of 
the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial 
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration 
of various external sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s core 
operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition:

—	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal credit rating;

—	 significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

—	 existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected 
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

—	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

—	 significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and

—	 an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial 
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days 
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the 
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i)	 the financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(ii)	 the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and

(iii)	 adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, 
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(u)	 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of 
“investment grade” in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an external rating is not 
available, the asset has an internal rating of “low risk”. Low risk means that the counterparty has a strong 
financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default
The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management 
purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are 
generally not recoverable.

—	 when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty; or

—	 information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely 
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the 
Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is 
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate 
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following events:

—	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the counterparty;

—	 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

—	 the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s 
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not 
otherwise consider;

—	 it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 
or

—	 the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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(u)	 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the 
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice 
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of 
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and 
loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. 
As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount 
at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL are estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are 
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL 
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime 
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the 
current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a 
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

(v)	 Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money 
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation. 
The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision 
due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is 
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence 
of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is 
remote.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

109Annual Report 2024

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4.	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(w)	 Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the end 
of the reporting period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate are adjusting 
events and are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting period that are 
not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when material.

5.	 CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the directors are required to make judgements (other than those involving estimations) that have 
a significant impact on the amounts recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors have made the following judgements that have 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements (apart from those 
involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

Significant increase in credit risk
As explained in Note 4(u) to the consolidated financial statements, ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 
12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when 
its credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a 
significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased, the 
Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-looking information.
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5.	 CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a)	 Impairment assessment of trade receivables
The Group assesses ECL of trade receivables individually. The estimated loss rates are based on internal 
credit ratings, credit loss experience, and customers’ repayment history that are reasonable and 
supportable and taking into consideration forward-looking information available without undue costs or 
effort.

The loss allowance amount of the trade receivables is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows with the consideration of expected 
future credit losses. The assessment of credit risk of trade receivables involves high degree of estimation 
uncertainty.

At the end of each reporting period, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the 
forward-looking information are considered. The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of trade receivables was approximately HK$35,048,000, net 
of allowance for credit losses of approximately HK$136,809,000 (2023: approximately HK$42,554,000, net of 
allowance for credit losses of approximately HK$146,466,000).

Details of the Group’s trade receivables and the Group’s assessment of ECL are disclosed in Notes 17 and 
28(c)(i) to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

(b)	 Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for non-financial assets (including the 
property, plant and equipment and prepayments) at the end of each reporting period. Non-financial assets 
are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An 
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, which is 
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less 
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of 
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in 
use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset 
or CGU and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and prepayments were 
approximately HK$225,965,000 (net of impairment of approximately HK$5,767,000) (2023: approximately 
HK$231,169,000 (net of impairment of approximately HK$5,767,000)) and approximately HK$3,579,000 (net 
of impairment of approximately HK$35,509,000) (2023: approximately HK$16,941,000 (net of impairment of 
approximately HK$22,430,000)) respectively.
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5.	 CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(c)	 Impairment assessment of deposits for purchase of raw materials and acquisition of 

property, plant and equipment
The Group assesses ECL of deposits for purchase of raw materials and acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment on an individual basis. The assessment includes evaluation of collectability and aging analysis 
of the deposits and on management’s judgement on creditworthiness and past collection history of each 
counterparty. The provision of ECL is sensitive to change in estimates, the management of the Group has 
exercised judgement and made such estimation and is satisfied that the estimates are reflective of current 
market and deposits’ specific condition.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of deposits for purchase of raw materials and acquisition 
of property, plant and equipment were approximately HK$57,337,000 and HK$3,881,000 respectively, net 
of impairment of approximately HK$85,996,000 and HK$5,821,000 respectively (2023: carrying amount 
of deposits for purchase of raw materials was approximately HK$121,154,000, net of impairment of 
approximately HK$29,493,000).

Details of the Group’s impairment assessment on deposits for purchase of raw materials and acquisition 
of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in Notes 18 and 28(c)(ii) to the consolidated financial 
statements.

(d)	 Net realisable value of inventories
Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated costs of completion and selling expense. These estimates are based on current market conditions 
and the historical experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It could change 
significantly as a result of changes in customer’s taste and competitor’s actions in response to severe 
industry cycles. The Group will reassess the estimates by the end of each reporting period.

(e)	 Deferred tax assets
As at 31 December 2024, a deferred tax asset of approximately HK$1,076,000 (2023: approximately  
HK$5,198,000) in relation to unused tax losses for Hong Kong operating subsidiary has been recognised 
in the consolidated statement of financial position. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax 
losses of approximately HK$143,756,000 (2023: approximately HK$115,104,000) due to the unpredictability 
of future profit streams for entities operating in Hong Kong. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly 
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the future, 
which is a key source of estimation uncertainty. In cases where the actual future taxable profits generated 
are less or more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which result in revision of future 
taxable profits estimation, a material reversal or further recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which 
would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal or further recognition takes 
place.
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6.	 REVENUE
(a)	 Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Types of goods

Sales of goods
Optical fibre cables 143,727 159,093
Optical fibres 4,290 15,115   

Total revenue from contracts with customers 148,017 174,208
   

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at a point in time with customers 148,017 174,208
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6.	 REVENUE (CONTINUED)
(b)	 Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised below:

Sale of goods
The Group manufactures and sells optical fibres, optical fibre cables, optical cable cores and other related 
products to customers.

For manufacturing and sales of the optical fibres, optical fibre cables, optical cable cores and other related 
products to the customers, revenue is recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being when 
the goods have been shipped to the customers’ specific location (“Delivery”).

When the Group receives a deposit before the production activity commences, this will give rise to contract 
liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the 
amount of the deposit.

Following the Delivery, the customers have full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell 
the goods, have the primary responsibility when on selling the goods and bear the risks of obsolescence and 
loss in relation to the goods. The normal credit term is 14 to 360 days (2023: 14 to 360 days) upon delivery.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or 
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Sale of optical fibre cables within one year 7 1,900
   

7.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION
Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports according to the business lines operated by the 
Group, and are regularly reviewed by Mr. He Xingfu, the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”) to allocate 
resources to the segments and to assess their performance. The Group’s operating and reporting segments are 
(i) optical fibre cables, optical cable cores and other related products, which is located in Thailand and (ii) optical 
fibres, which is located in Hong Kong. Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax from operations. The adjusted profit/loss before tax 
is measured consistently with the Group’s loss before tax except that interest income, non-lease related finance 
costs, fair value gain/loss from the Group’s financial instruments as well as head office and corporate expenses 
are excluded from such measurement.

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting 
policies described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
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7.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Intersegment sales are transacted with reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the 
then prevailing market prices.

Other than other segment information disclosed, the assets and liabilities for operating segments are not provided 
to the Company’s CODM for the purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment, and therefore no 
segment assets and liabilities information is presented.

Segment revenue and results
Year ended 31 December 2024

Optical fibre 
cables, optical 

cable cores 
and other 

related 
products

Optical 
fibres Sub-total Elimination Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Revenue
External sales 148,017 – 148,017 – 148,017
Intersegment sales – 14,449 14,449 (14,449) –      

Segment revenue 148,017 14,449 162,466 (14,449) 148,017      

Segment loss (46,590) (36,676) (83,266) (905) (84,171)     

Unallocated
Interest income 26
Central corporate expenses (5,594)
Finance costs (1,590) 

Loss before tax (91,329)
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7.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023

Optical fibre 
cables, optical 

cable cores 
and other 

related 
products

Optical 
fibres Sub-total Elimination Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Revenue
External sales 172,889 1,319 174,208 – 174,208
Intersegment sales – 20,738 20,738 (20,738) –      

Segment revenue 172,889 22,057 194,946 (20,738) 174,208      

Segment loss (15,399) (42,077) (57,476) (1,922) (59,398)     

Unallocated
Interest income 5
Central corporate expenses (3,963)
Finance costs (1,891) 

Loss before tax (65,247)
 

Other segment information
Year ended 31 December 2024

Optical fibre 
cables, optical 

cable cores 
and other 

related 
products

Optical 
fibres Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Amounts charged included in the measure 
of segment results

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3,216 2,411 5,627
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and 

prepayments – 13,079 13,079
Impairment losses on financial assets 47,244 – 47,244
    



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

116 Transtech Optelecom Science Holdings Limited

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

7.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Other segment information (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023

Optical fibre 
cables, optical 

cable cores 
and other 

related 
products

Optical 
fibres Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Amounts charged/(credited) included in  
the measure of segment results

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,072 5,149 9,221
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and 

prepayments – 28,197 28,197
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses) 
  on financial assets 31,088 (13,334) 17,754
    

Geographical information
The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and Thailand.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is presented based on the customers’ 
geographical location, which is based on billing address, as below:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Germany 40,239 26,882
Greece 1,011 2,657
Indonesia 3,654 1,343
Laos 309 –
Malaysia 7,357 2,099
Myanmar 2,897 5,253
Seychelles – 808
Thailand 85,685 110,548
The Philippines 6,229 24,618
United Kingdom 636 –   

148,017 174,208
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7.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical information (Continued)
Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented based on the geographical location of the assets 
as below:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Hong Kong 2,016 10,900
Thailand 223,949 237,052   

225,965 247,952
   

Information about major customers
Revenue attributed from customers that accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for the 
respective year is as follows:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Customer A 40,239 26,882
Customer B 35,183 53,466
Customer C N/A* 22,771
   

*	 Revenue from relevant customer was less than 10% of the Group’s total revenue for the respective year.

Note:	 Aforesaid customers are customers of the segment of optical fibre cables, optical cable cores and other related products.

8.	 OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Other income:
Income from sales of scrap products 221 186
Bank interest income 26 72
Others (Note) 125 1,152   

372 1,410
   

Other gains and losses:
Foreign exchange losses, net (7,634) (12,848)

   

Note:	 During the year ended 31 December 2023, the amount includes service fee income of approximately HK$531,000 in respect of technical 

support provided to an independent third party for the production of masks in Hong Kong.
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9.	 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(a)	 Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors and chief-executive of the Company by entities comprising 
the Group during the year are as follows:

Fees 
(Note (iv))

Salaries
and other 

benefits

Retirement
benefits 
scheme

contributions
Total

emoluments
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Chief executive officer and executive director
He Xingfu (Note i) 360 1,342 18 1,720
     

Executive directors
Ren Guodong 120 569 18 707
Sheng Lingfei (Note ii) 10 – – 10
Xu Jinjie – 490 1 491
Yin Zhou (Note iii) 100 – – 100     

230 1,059 19 1,308
     

Independent non-executive directors
Lau Siu Hang 240 – – 240
Leong Chew Kuan 240 – – 240
Li Wei 240 – – 240     

720 – – 720
     

Total emoluments for 2024 1,310 2,401 37 3,748
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9.	 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a)	 Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

Fees 
(Note (iv))

Salaries
and other 

benefits

Retirement
benefits 
scheme

contributions
Total

emoluments
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Chief executive officer and executive director
He Xingfu (Note i) 360 1,346 18 1,724
     

Executive directors
Hu Guoqiang (Note iv) 240 – – 240
Ren Guodong 120 572 18 710
Xu Jinjie – 523 1 524
Yin Zhou 120 – – 120     

480 1,095 19 1,594
     

Independent non-executive directors
Lau Siu Hang 240 – – 240
Leong Chew Kuan 240 – – 240
Li Wei 240 – – 240     

720 – – 720
     

Total emoluments for 2023 1,560 2,441 37 4,038
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9.	 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a)	 Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(i)	 Mr. He Xingfu acts as chief executive officer of the Group and appointed as Chairman of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) on 

1 July 2023. Emoluments for acting as chief executive officer of the Group has been included in his director’s emoluments as 

disclosed above.

(ii)	 Ms. Sheng Lingfei was appointed as executive director on 1 December 2024.

(iii)	 Mr. Yin Zhou resigned as executive director on 1 November 2024.

(iv)	 Mr. Hu Guoqiang resigned as executive director and Chairman of the Board on 1 July 2023.

(v)	 The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with management of the affairs of the 

Company and Group. The emoluments of non-executive directors shown above were for their services as the directors of the 

Company.

During both years, no remuneration was paid by the Group to any director or the chief executive of the 
Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. Neither 
the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any remuneration during both years.

(b)	 Employees’ emoluments
The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year included two directors (2023: two directors) 
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in (a) above. The emoluments of the remaining three 
(2023: three) individuals who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Salaries and other benefits 1,949 1,986
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 54 54   

2,003 2,040
   

Note:	 The discretionary bonus is determined with references to the performance of individual employee and the Group.
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9.	 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b)	 Employees’ emoluments (Continued)

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employee whose remuneration fell within 
the following bands:

Number of individual

2024 2023
   

Nil to HK$1,000,000 3 3
   

10.	FINANCE COSTS

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest on bank borrowings 1,590 1,891
   

11.	LOSS BEFORE TAX
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Auditor’s remuneration

— Audit services 900 900
— Non-audit services 41 41   

941 941   

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5,627 9,221
Less: amount capitalised in inventories (3,932) (8,110)   

1,695 1,111   
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11.	LOSS BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED)
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): (Continued)

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Employee benefit expense, inclusive of directors’ emoluments:
Directors’ remuneration (Note 9) 3,748 4,038
Other staff costs

Salaries and other benefits 18,593 20,357
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 500 640   

Total staff costs 22,841 25,035
Less: amount capitalised in inventories (9,235) (12,999)   

13,606 12,036   

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense (included in cost of sales) 142,802 154,120
Allowance for inventories (included in cost of sales) 5,490 2,623
Expenses relating to short-term lease (included in cost of sales, selling and 

distribution expenses and administrative expenses) 8,924 10,531

Reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables (6,511) (11,417)
Impairment losses on deposits for purchase of raw materials and 

acquisition of property, plant and equipment and other receivables 53,755 29,171   

47,244 17,754   

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment – 5,767
Impairment losses on prepayments 13,079 22,430   

13,079 28,197
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12.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)
Income tax has been recognised in profit or loss as following:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Thailand Corporate Income Tax
Current tax 615 2,686
Under-provision in prior years 71 –

Thailand withholding tax 110 107
Deferred tax (Note 25) 2,721 (3,818)   

3,517 (1,025)
   

Hong Kong Profits Tax
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of taxable profits of 
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits 
of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate 
of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first 
HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 
million.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is required since the group entities have no assessable profit for both 
years.

Thailand Corporate Income Tax
The provision for Thailand Corporate Income Tax is based on the statutory rate of 20% on the estimated 
assessable profits. Futong Thailand has been granted preferential tax treatments by the Board of Investment in 
Thailand relating to manufacturing of cables by virtue of the provisions of the Industrial Investment Promotion 
Act B.E.2520 of Thailand. The preferential tax treatments granted include: (i) the full exemption from payment of 
corporate income tax on net profit of the promoted business of the manufacturing of cables for a period of eight 
years ended 28 February 2021 (“Exemption Period”). No Corporate Income tax has been provided within the 
Exemption Period; and (ii) the 50% exemption from payment of corporate income tax during the period from 1 
March 2021 to 28 February 2025 (“50% Exemption Period”), 50% Corporate Income Tax has been provided by the 
direct application of Corporate Income Tax rate to the profit before tax of management account during the “50% 
Exemption Period”.
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12.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (CONTINUED)
The tax expense/(credit) for both years can be reconciled to the loss before tax as follows:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss before tax (91,329) (65,247)   

Tax at the statutory income tax rate (16,824) (11,371)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable (486) (456)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible 14,399 6,804
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised 6,786 6,601
Tax concession (539) (2,710)
Under-provision for prior year 71 -
Withholding tax on the income derived from a subsidiary in Thailand of 15% 110 107   

Income tax expense/(credit) for the year 3,517 (1,025)
   

13.	DIVIDEND
The Board of Directors of the Company does not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the years 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

14.	LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company 
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company for  

the purpose of calculating basic loss per share (94,846) (64,222)
   

2024 2023
’000 ’000

   

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year  

for the purpose of calculating basic loss per share 260,000 260,000
   

No diluted loss per share for both years has been presented as the Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary 
shares outstanding during the both years.
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15.	PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Freehold 
land Buildings

Leasehold 
improvements Machinery

Furniture 
and fixtures

Office 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Construction 
in progress Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
          

COST
As at 1 January 2023 26,782 42,176 52,305 105,890 6,441 1,786 3,121 66,024 304,525
Additions – – – 731 571 – – 108,528 109,830
Disposal – – – – (4) – – – (4)
Exchange realignment 166 262 131 250 41 6 15 1,314 2,185          

As at 31 December 2023  
and 1 January 2024 26,948 42,438 52,436 106,871 7,049 1,792 3,136 175,866 416,536

Additions – – – – 69 9 73 130 281
Disposal – – – – – – – – –
Exchange realignment 36 56 28 54 10 1 5 149 339          

As at 31 December 2024 26,984 42,494 52,464 106,925 7,128 1,802 3,214 176,145 417,156          

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  
AND IMPAIRMENT

As at 1 January 2023 – 19,573 51,810 87,538 6,092 1,770 3,040 – 169,823
Provided for the year – 2,106 190 6,703 198 7 17 – 9,221
Eliminated on disposal – – – – (4) – – – (4)
Impairment – – – 5,767 – – – – 5,767
Exchange realignment – 137 131 235 36 6 15 – 560          

As at 31 December 2023  
and 1 January 2024 – 21,816 52,131 100,243 6,322 1,783 3,072 – 185,367

Provided for the year – 2,074 189 3,122 211 5 26 – 5,627
Exchange realignment – 79 28 72 13 1 4 – 197          

As at 31 December 2024 – 23,969 52,348 103,437 6,546 1,789 3,102 – 191,191          

CARRYING AMOUNTS
As at 31 December 2024 26,984 18,525 116 3,488 582 13 112 176,145 225,965
          

As at 31 December 2023 26,948 20,622 305 6,628 727 9 64 175,866 231,169
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15.	PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and prepayments belong to the 
reporting segment of optical fibres were approximately HK$ 2,016,000 and HK$15,698,000 (2023: approximately 
HK$10,185,000 and HK$39,371,000) respectively. Due to the operating loss and temporary production suspension 
of the Group’s manufacturing and trading of optical fibres, management concluded there were indications of 
impairment and performed an impairment assessment on these assets as at 31 December 2024 to determine the 
recoverable amount of this CGU to which the assets belong based on value in use of the CGU.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined on the basis of the value in use using discounted cash 
flow method as assessed by independent qualified professional valuer and approved by the directors. The 
key assumptions for the discounted cash flow method are those regarding the discount rate, growth rate and 
budgeted gross margin and revenue during the period. The Group estimates discount rate using pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU. Budgeted gross 
margin and revenue are based on past practices and expectations on market development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by the directors 
for the next five years with assumption of the production would be gradually resume normal levels, with an 
average annual growth rate of 15.8% from 2025 to 2029. By 2029, the forecasted revenues is expected to reach 
approximately 22% of the CGU pre-pandemic revenue level (2023: assumption of the production would be 
resume normal in coming year, an average growth rate of 4.8% for the subsequent four years)). The growth for 
the residuals period was estimate at 2.5% (2023: 2.5%), which is based on long-term average economic growth 
rate of the geographical area in which the business of the CGU operates. The rate used to discount the forecast 
cash flows from the CGU is 14.2% (2023: 14.2%). Based on the value in use calculation, impairment losses on 
property, plant and equipment and prepayments (Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements) amounting 
to approximately HK$Nil and HK$13,079,000 (2023: approximately HK$5,767,000 and HK$22,430,000) respectively 
were recognised during the year to reduce the carrying amount of the CGU to its recoverable amount.

As detailed in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has entered into a credit and loan 
agreement with a bank on 27 February 2025. The freehold land and buildings with an aggregated carrying 
amounts of approximately HK$33,064,000 as at 31 December 2024 has been pledged to the facilities after the end 
of reporting period.
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16.	 INVENTORIES

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Raw materials and consumables 23,741 25,017
Work in progress 7,564 15,409
Finished goods 10,262 19,534
Goods-in-transit 1,674 164   

43,241 60,124

Less: Inventory provision (8,172) (2,629)   

35,069 57,495
   

17.	TRADE RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade receivables 171,857 189,020
Less: Loss allowance (136,809) (146,466)   

Total trade receivables 35,048 42,554
   

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers, where payment is 
required either in advance or upon delivery. Credit periods allowed are determined according to relevant business 
practice and the relevant type of goods and generally are in the range of 14 to 360 days (2023: 14 to 360 days) 
from the invoice date and cash realisation may be further extended by three to six months for those customers 
paying by bank acceptance notes. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict 
control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue 
balances are reviewed and followed up regularly by senior management. 
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17.	TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
The following is an ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net of allowance for credit losses presented based on 
invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

0–180 days 34,607 32,328
181–270 days – –
271–365 days – –
Over 365 days 441 10,226   

35,048 42,554
   

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set 
out in Note 28(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Malaysian Ringgit (“MYR”) 4,586 _
Renminbi (“RMB”) – 10,226
Thai Baht (“THB”) 23,033 28,184
United States dollars (“USD”) 7,429 4,144   

35,048 42,554
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18.	DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Non-current portion
Prepayments 30,392 15,065
Deposits for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 9,702 10,301
Other deposits 30 22
Less: Loss allowances (36,213) (8,583)   

Total 3,911 16,805
   

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current portion
Electricity deposits 783 785
Other deposits 65 113
Deposits for purchase of raw materials 143,333 150,647
Prepayments 8,696 24,646
Other receivables 3,530 11,529
Other tax receivables 708 2,125
Less: Loss allowances (94,635) (54,069)   

Total 62,480 135,776
   

As at 31 December 2024, included in prepayments of carrying amount approximately HK$2,619,000 (net of 
impairment loss of HK$35,509,000) (2023: approximately HK$16,941,000 (net of impairment loss of HK$22,430,000)) 
represented advances made to a supplier for purchase of raw materials. Details of impairment assessment are 
set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other receivables are set out in Note 28(c) to the consolidated 
financial statements.
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19.	BANK AND CASH BALANCES
Bank balances carry interest at market interest rates ranging from 0.01% to 0.6% per annum as at 31 December 
2024 (2023: 0.01% to 1%).

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set out in Note 28(c) to the consolidated financial 
statements.

20.	TRADE PAYABLES

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   
 

Trade payables 10,253 15,941
   

The credit period granted to the Group by suppliers normally ranged from 30 to 180 days (2023: 30 to 180 days). 
The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the 
reporting period:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

0–30 days 4,942 7,319
31–60 days 2,049 3,406
61–90 days 1,853 3,130
91–180 days 1,243 1,280
Over 180 days 166 806   

10,253 15,941
   

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

HK$ 698 981
RMB 3,821 5,001
THB 4,419 5,444
USD 1,315 4,515   

10,253 15,941
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21.	ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Accruals 3,187 3,950
Payables for acquisition of property, plant and equipment – 1,020
Other payables 238 6,067   

3,425 11,037
   

22.	CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Short-term advances received from customers
— Sales of optical fibre cables 14 542
   

When the Group receives a deposit before the production activity commences, this will give rise to contract 
liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of 
the deposit.

Movements in contract liabilities:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Balance as at 1 January 542 4,123
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising revenue during the 

year was included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the year (520) (4,107)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receiving advance payment from 

customers 4 528
Exchange realignment (12) (2)   

Balance as at 31 December 14 542
   

No billings in advance of performance received that is expected to be recognised as income after more than one 
year (2023: Nil).



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

132 Transtech Optelecom Science Holdings Limited

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

23.	BANK BORROWINGS

2024 2023
Effective

interest rate HK$’000
Effective

interest rate HK$’000
     

Bank borrowings — unsecured 5% 25,300 5% 37,564
     

Analysed into:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

By nature

Variable rate bank borrowings 25,300 37,564
   

By maturity

Bank borrowings repayable:
Within one year or on demand 25,300 37,564
   

The carrying amount of the Group’s bank borrowings is denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

RMB – 915
THB 25,300 36,649   

25,300 37,564
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24.	SHARE CAPITAL

Number
of shares Amount

HK$’000
   

Authorised:
As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 

1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024,  
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 1,000,000,000 10,000

   

Issued and fully paid:
As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023,  

1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 260,000,000 2,600
   

Capital management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s 
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes borrowings, net of cash and cash 
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure by considering the cost of capital and the risks 
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group will 
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as 
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements, except for 
the requirement to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange that it has to have a public float of at least 25% of 
the shares.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars regularly on substantial share interests showing the non-
public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with the 25% limit throughout the year. As at 31 December 
2024, over 25% (2023: over 25%) of the shares were in public hands.
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25.	DEFERRED TAX
The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised and movements thereon during the years:

Tax loss
Long service 

payment
ECL 

provision

Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation

Impairment
on

prepayments Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

As at 1 January 2023 9,900 75 5,805 (2,269) – 13,511
Credited/(charged) to  

profit or loss (Note 12) (4,702) (20) 3,052 1,787 3,701 3,818
Exchange realignment – 1 58 – – 59       

As at 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024 5,198 56 8,915 (482) 3,701 17,388

       

(Charged)/credited to  
profit or loss (Note 12) (4,122) 26 4,723 353 (3,701) (2,721)

Exchange realignment – 1 127 – – 128       

As at 31 December 2024 1,076 83 13,765 (129) – 14,795
       

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax for presentation purpose in the consolidated statement of 
financial position:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Deferred tax assets 14,795 17,388
Deferred tax liabilities – –   

14,795 17,388
   

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated unused tax losses of approximately HK$150,280,000 
(2023: approximately HK$146,608,000) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been 
recognised in respect of approximately HK$6,524,000 (2023: approximately HK$31,504,000) of such losses. 
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining approximately HK$143,756,000 (2023: 
approximately HK$115,104,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses may be carried 
forward indefinitely.
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26.	PROVISIONS

Long service 
payment
HK$’000

  

As at 1 January 2023 753
Amount reversed during the year (200)
Exchange realignment 3  

As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 556
Provision during the year 270
Exchange realignment 7  

As at 31 December 2024 833
  

The Group provides for the probable future long service payment expected to be made to employees under 
the Employment Ordinance in Thailand. The provision represents management’s best estimate of the probable 
future payments which have been earned by the employees from their services to the Group up to the end of the 
reporting period.

27.	OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessee
The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for staff quarters and plant and office premises for its 
operations with termination option. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the portfolio of short-term leases is 
similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed in Note 11 to the 
consolidated financial statements.
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28.	FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk and 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management policy focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial 
performance.

(a)	 Categories of financial instruments as at 31 December

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost 114,915 179,917
   

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 37,642 62,625
   

(b)	 Market risk
(i)	 Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its business transactions, assets 
and liabilities are principally denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities in HK$, 
USD and RMB. Accordingly, the Group is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk, except for 
the bank and cash balances, trade receivables, deposits and inter-company balances of certain Group 
entities denominated in USD and RMB. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging 
policy. However, the management closely monitors its foreign currency exposure and will consider 
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities at 
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Assets

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

RMB 62,688 133,540
USD 9,946 12,314

Intra group balance
USD 45,662 55,178
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28.	FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(b)	 Market risk (Continued)

(i)	 Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Liabilities

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

RMB 3,821 5,915
USD 1,464 5,548

Intra group balance
USD 45,650 55,242
   

Sensitivity analysis
Included in the carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets 
and liabilities are certain USD denominated amounts held by Transtech. As HK$ is pegged to USD, 
Transtech’s foreign currency risk related to USD is insignificant and the sensitivity analysis is not 
presented.

The following table details the Group’s other sensitivity to a 5% (2023: 5%) increase and decrease 
in the relevant foreign currencies against the functional currency of the respective group entity (i.e. 
HK$ and THB) to which they relate 5% (2023: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign 
currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment 
of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only 
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items, including inter-company balances, and 
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% (2023: 5%) change in foreign 
currency rates. A positive number below indicates an decrease in post-tax loss where the relevant 
foreign currencies strengthen 5% (2023: 5%) against HK$. For a 5% (2023: 5%) weakening of the 
relevant foreign currencies against HK$, there would be an equal and opposite impact and the 
numbers below would be negative.
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28.	FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(b)	 Market risk (Continued)

(i)	 Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

RMB impact USD impact

2024 2023 2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Loss after tax (2,936) (6,151) (2,531) (2,958)
     

(ii)	 Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk relating to the variable rate bank balances and 
bank borrowings.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to the certain bank borrowings 
which are interest bearing at fixed interest rate as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group currently does not have interest rate hedging policy. However, management will consider 
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to variable interest rates 
for bank borrowings at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the bank 
borrowings outstanding at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 100 
basis points (2023: 100 basis points) increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk 
internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably 
possible change in interest rates.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, if interest rates had been 100 basis points (2023: 100 basis 
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year 
would increase/decrease by approximately HK$228,000 (2023: approximately HK$338,000). This is 
mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate bank borrowings.

No sensitivity analysis is provided on variable-rate bank balances as the management of the Group 
considers that the interest rate fluctuation on bank balances is minimal and the impact from the 
exposure to interest rate risk sensitivity is considered insignificant.
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28.	FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(c)	 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on their contractual obligations resulting 
in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade 
receivables, deposits and other receivables and bank balances. The Group does not hold any collateral or 
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial assets under ECL model. Information about the 
Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit risk exposures and the related impairment assessment, if 
applicable, are summarised as below:

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL 
assessment:

Notes

External
credit
rating

Internal 
credit
rating
(Note c)

12-month or
lifetime ECL

Gross carrying 
amount

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Financial assets at 
amortised cost

Trade receivables 
(Note a)

17 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL —  
not credit impaired

28,598 41,538

Watch list Lifetime ECL —  
not credit impaired

6,961 2,971

Loss Lifetime ECL —  
credit impaired

136,298 144,511

Deposits and other 
receivables

18 N/A (Note b) 12-month ECL 886 151,820

Loss Lifetime ECL —  
credit impaired

156,557 11,276

Bank balances 19 BAA-AA N/A 12-month ECL 17,709 14,248

Notes:

(a)	 For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The 

Group determines the ECL on these items by individual assessment.

(b)	 For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses past due information to assess whether credit risk has 

increased significantly since initial recognition.
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28.	FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(c)	 Credit risk (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)	 The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal 

credit rating Description Trade receivables

Other 

financial assets
    

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not 

have any past due amounts

Lifetime ECL – not 

credit-impaired

12-month ECL

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually 

settle in full

Lifetime ECL – not 

credit-impaired

12-month ECL

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since 

initial recognition through information developed 

internally or external resources

Lifetime ECL – not 

credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL – not 

credit-impaired

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL – 

credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL – credit-

impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe 

financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic 

prospect of recovery

Amount is written 

off

Amount is written off

(i)	 Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

Management adopted a policy on providing credit facilities to customers. A credit investigation, including assessment 

of financial information, advice from business partners in relation to potential customers and credit search, would be 

required to be launched. The level of credit granted must not exceed a predetermined level set by the management. Credit 

evaluation is performed on a regular basis.

In order to minimise the credit risk on trade receivables, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible 

for monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management 

of the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that 

adequate provisions for impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts on trade receivables. The Group applies 

simplified approach on trade receivables to provide for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9. In this regard, the management of the 

Group considers that the credit risk on trade receivables is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk with exposure limited to certain major customers. Trade receivables from 

the largest customers and top three customers amounting to approximately HK$10,463,000 and HK$20,721,000 (2023: 

approximately HK$13,847,000 and HK$27,277,000) respectively, in aggregate, comprised approximately 30% and 59% (2023: 

approximately 33% and 64%) respectively of the Group’s trade receivables as at 31 December 2024. The management 

closely monitors the subsequent settlement of the customers.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has provided reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables of 

approximately HK$6,511,000 (2023: approximately HK$11,417,000) based on individual assessment.
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28.	FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(c)	 Credit risk (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)	 The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories: (Continued)

(i)	 Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified 

approach.

Lifetime ECL 

(not credit-

impaired)

Lifetime ECL

(credit- 

impaired) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

As at 1 January 2023 815 166,196 167,011

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January:

— Transfer to credit impaired (30) 30 –

— Impairment losses reversed (771) (14,534) (15,305)

— Impairment losses recognised – 1,947 1,947

— Write-offs – (5,929) (5,929)

New financial assets originated 1,941 – 1,941

Exchange realignment – (3,199) (3,199)    

As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 1,955 144,511 146,466
    

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January:

— Impairment losses reversed (1,912) (6,394) (8,306)

New financial assets originated 500 1,295 1,795

Exchange realignment (32) (3,114) (3,146)    

As at 31 December 2024 511 136,298 136,809
    

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no debtors were defaulted and transferred to credit impaired (2023: two debtors 

with a gross carrying amount of approximately HK$1,992,000 defaulted and transferred to credit impaired).

In respect of the credit-impaired trade receivables amounted to approximately HK$136,298,000 as at 31 December 2024 

(2023: approximately HK$144,511,000), the Group has taken follow-up actions to recover the overdue trade receivables. 

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the management took further actions to proactively follow up with these 

debtors for the settlement of the overdue accounts receivables and negotiated for a revised repayment schedule and/

or any collateral or other credit enhancements from these debtors. Despite of continuous follow-up actions, only certain 

debtors agreed to sign a revised repayment schedule with the Group. However, the Group was not able to obtain any credit 

enhancements from these debtors and no subsequent settlement from these debtors was noted. In addition, without further 

information came to the attention of the management about the financial ability of these debtors to settle the overdue 

trade receivables, management is of the opinion that such overdue trade receivables were credit impaired, the chance of 

collecting the outstanding balances from these debtors is remote. As a result, the Group recognised full allowance for these 

credit-impaired trade receivables as at 31 December 2024.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty 

and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into 

bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over two years past due, whichever occurs earlier.
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28.	FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(c)	 Credit risk (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)	 The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories: (Continued)

(ii)	 Deposits and other receivables

The Group performs individual impairment assessments under ECL model on credit impaired deposits and other receivables 

with gross carrying amount of approximately HK$156,557,000 (2023: approximately HK$11,276,000).

For deposits for purchase of raw materials, the Group uses internal credit rating to perform individual impairment 

assessment under ECL model with gross carrying amount of approximately HK$143,333,000 (2023: approximately 

HK$150,647,000). As at 31 December 2023, the Group measures the loss allowance at 12-month ECL. Due to a significant 

increase in credit risk since initial recognition during the year, as at 31 December 2024, the Group measures the loss 

allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group has provided impairment losses of approximately HK$56,950,000 (lifetime (credit 

impaired)) (2023: approximately HK$29,273,000 (12-month ECL) on the deposits for purchase of raw materials during the 

year ended 31 December 2024.

For deposits for acquisition of property, plant and equipment, the Group uses internal credit rating to perform individual 

impairment assessment under ECL model with gross carrying amount of approximately HK$9,702,000, The Group measures 

the loss allowance at lifetime ECL, in view of a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The Group has 

provided impairment losses of approximately HK$3,855,000 (lifetime (credit impaired)) on the deposits for acquisition of 

property, plant and equipment during the year ended 31 December 2024.

In respect of the credit impaired other receivables amounting to approximately HK$3,522,000 (2023: approximately 

11,276,000), the Group measures the loss allowance at lifetime ECL, in view of the past repayment history, or recent 

evidences for default payments. The Group has provided reversal of impairment loss of approximately HK$7,050,000 (2023: 

approximately HK$102,000) (lifetime (credit-impaired)) on the related other receivables during the year ended 31 December 

2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group provided net impairment losses on deposits for purchase of raw 

materials and acquisition of property, plant and equipment and other receivables of approximately HK$53,755,000 (2023: 

approximately HK$29,171,000) based on individual assessment.

For the remaining deposit and other receivables, the Group considers the counterparties with good credit worthiness based 

on their past repayment history and subsequent settlement. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the risk of 

default by these counterparties is not significant and the Group measured loss allowance at 12-month ECL on deposits and 

other receivables and assessed that the ECL on these balances are insignificant and thus no loss allowance provision was 

recognised for the both years.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

143Annual Report 2024

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

28.	FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(c)	 Credit risk (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)	 The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories: (Continued)

(ii)	 Deposits and other receivables (Continued)

The following table shows reconciliation of loss allowances that has been recognised for deposits and other receivables.

12-month

ECL

Lifetime ECL

(credit- 

impaired) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

As at 1 January 2023 – 10,763 10,763
    

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January:

— impairment losses reversed – (102) (102)

— Impairment losses recognised 29,273 – 29,273

Exchange realignment 220 68 288    

As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 29,493 10,729 40,222
    

Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1 January:

— Transfer to credit impaired (28,831) 28,831 –

— impairment losses reversed – (7,050) (7,050)

— Impairment losses recognised – 60,805 60,805

Exchange realignment (662) 2,024 1,362    

As at 31 December 2024 – 95,339 95,339
    

(iii)	 Bank balances

The credit risk on bank balances are limited because the counterparties are banks with higher credit ratings assigned 

by international credit rating agencies. No loss allowance provision for bank balances was recognised as the amount is 

insignificant. The Group has limited exposure to any single financial institution.
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28.	FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(d)	 Liquidity risk

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company have given careful 
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the Group had bank and cash 
balances of approximately HK$17,763,000, while the outstanding bank borrowings of approximately 
HK$25,300,000 as at 31 December 2024. Taking into account the ongoing availability of finance to the 
Group, including the cash flows generated from its principal operations and the existing banking facilities, 
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet 
its financial obligations as and when they fall due within the next 12 months from the end of the reporting 
period.

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of unexpected 
fluctuations in cash flows. The management of the Group monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and 
ensures compliance with covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table 
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date 
on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the 
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived based on management’s 
best estimates at the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interest rate curve, if available.

Weighted
average

effective
interest rate

Within
1 year or

on demand 1-5 years

Total
undiscounted

cash flows

Total
carrying
amount

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

As at 31 December 2024
Trade payables – 10,253 – 10,253 10,253
Accruals and other payables – 2,088 – 2,088 2,088
Bank borrowings 5 25,523 – 25,523 25,300      

37,864 – 37,864 37,641
      

As at 31 December 2023
Trade payables – 15,941 – 15,941 15,941
Accruals and other payables – 9,120 – 9,120 9,120
Bank borrowings 5 38,020 – 38,020 37,564      

63,081 – 63,081 62,625
      

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there are no bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause.
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28.	FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(e)	 Fair value

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally 
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at 
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

29.	RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Group had following transactions and balances with its related parties:

(a)	 Transactions with related party

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Related company^

Futong Group International Limited
Rental expense related to short-term lease in respect of  

plant and office premises# 8,400 9,900
   

#	 The related party transactions are also defined as continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

^	 Controlled by a shareholder of Hangzhou Futong Investments Co., Ltd., the ultimate holding company of the Company.

The rental expense are all at the terms agreed with the relevant parties.
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29.	RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b)	 Balances with related parties

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Fellow subsidiary
Hangzhou Futong Communication Technology Co., Ltd.

Trade receivables – 10,226
Trade payables – 155

   

Related company
Futong Group International Limited

Other payables – 4,950
Prepayments 650 –

   

(c)	 Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel who are the directors during the year is set out in Note 
9 to the consolidated financial statements, which is determined with reference to the performance of 
individual and market trends.

The remuneration of key management personnel during the year was as follows:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Short-term benefits 3,711 4,001
Post-employment benefits 37 37   

3,748 4,038
   

As at 31 December 2024, included in accruals was an accrued remuneration of approximately HK$426,000 
(2023: approximately HK$447,000) in relation to key management personnel which is unsecured, interest-
free and settled in cash.

30.	EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Group has entered into a credit and loan agreement on 27 February 2025 which Futong Thailand may borrow 
from a bank with a credit limit of THB300 million (equivalent to approximately HK$68,190,000). Futong Thailand has 
pledged a piece of land in Rayong, Thailand with an area of 58,149 square meters and the building thereon. The 
agreement period is valid for 30 years ending on 26 February 2054.
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31.	RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and 
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash 
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows financing activities.

Bank 
borrowings

HK$’000
  

As at 1 January 2023 55,800
Cash flows (20,335)
Interest expenses 1,891
Exchange realignment 208  

As at 31 December 2023 and 
  1 January 2024 37,564
  

Cash flows (13,611)
Interest expenses 1,590
Exchange realignment (243)  

As at 31 December 2024 25,300
  

32.	RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57)
Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously for at least five years are entitled to LSP in 
accordance with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under certain circumstances. These circumstances 
include where an employee is dismissed for reasons other than serious misconduct or redundancy, that employee 
resigns at the age of 65 or above, or the employment contract is of fixed term and expires without renewal. The 
amount of LSP payable is determined with reference to the employee’s final salary (capped at HK$22,500) and 
the years of service, reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits derived from the Group’s contributions to 
MPF scheme, with an overall cap of HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does not have any separate 
funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment Ordinance, which abolishes the use of the accrued 
benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP. The Abolition will officially 
take effect on the Transition Date (i.e., 1 May 2025). Separately, the Government of the HKSAR is also expected 
to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers for a period of 25 years after the Transition Date on the LSP 
payable by employers up to a certain amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative 
returns, after the Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation 
but are not eligible to offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation. Furthermore, the LSP obligation before the 
Transition Date will be grandfathered and calculated based on the last monthly wages immediately preceding the 
Transition Date and the years of service up to that date.
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32.	RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES (CONTINUED)
Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57) (Continued)
The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance has no material impact on the Group’s LSP liability as 
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 with respect to Hong Kong employees that participate in MPF Scheme.

The Group registers its employees in Thailand with Workmen’s Compensation Fund and Social Security Fund as 
required by laws in Thailand. The Group is required to make annual contributions to the Workmen’s Compensation 
Fund and monthly contributions to the Social Security Fund at certain percentage of payroll costs to fund the 
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to these funds is to make the required contributions.

As at 31 December 2024, there were no forfeited contributions which arose upon employees leaving the 
retirement plans and which are available to reduce the contributions payable in the future years (2023: Nil).

The contributions paid and payable to the schemes by the Group are disclosed in Notes 9 and 11 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

33.	PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
registration

Place of 
operation

Issued and 
fully paid share 

capital

Percentage of equity 
interests attributable 

to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect
       

Transtech British Virgin 
  Islands (“BVI”)

Hong Kong USD430 100% – Manufacturing and sales 
of optical fibres and 
other related products

Futong Thailand Thailand Thailand THB807,110,000 99% 1% Manufacturing and sales 
of optical fibre cables 
and optical cable 
cores

Great Sign Technologies 
Limited

BVI Hong Kong USD1,000 100% – Investment holding

Pan South Industries Limited BVI Hong Kong USD1,000 100% – Investment holding

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of both years.
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34.	STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
Statement of financial position of the Company

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Non-current asset
Investments in subsidiaries 394,018 394,018   

Current assets
Prepayments 46 26
Bank balances 1,357 1,945   

1,403 1,971   

Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables 907 1,002
Amounts due to subsidiaries 42,370 37,676
Tax payable 12 12   

43,289 38,690   

Net current liabilities (41,886) (36,719)   

NET ASSETS 352,132 357,299
   

Capital and reserves
Share capital 2,600 2,600
Reserves 349,532 354,699   

TOTAL EQUITY 352,132 357,299
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34.	STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 
(CONTINUED)
Reserve movement of the Company

Share Other Accumulated Total
premium reserve losses equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note)
     

As at 1 January 2023 95,534 320,522 (57,366) 358,690
Loss and other comprehensive income  

for the year – – (3,991) (3,991)     

As at 31 December 2023 and 
1 January 2024 95,534 320,522 (61,357) 354,699

     

Loss and other comprehensive income  
for the year – – (5,167) (5,167)     

As at 31 December 2024 95,534 320,522 (66,524) 349,532
     

Note:	 Other reserve represents the contribution made by Futong China to the Company.

Approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on 31 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

  
Mr. He Xingfu Mr. Ren Guodong

Executive Director Executive Director
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